Oberlin Digital Commons at Oberlin

Honors Papers

Student Work

2021

In the Shadow of the Carceral State: The Evolution of Feminist and Institutional Activism Against Sexual Violence

Bethany MunYeen Gen Oberlin College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.oberlin.edu/honors

Part of the Political Science Commons

Repository Citation

Gen, Bethany MunYeen, "In the Shadow of the Carceral State: The Evolution of Feminist and Institutional Activism Against Sexual Violence" (2021). *Honors Papers*. 823. https://digitalcommons.oberlin.edu/honors/823

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Work at Digital Commons at Oberlin. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Papers by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons at Oberlin. For more information, please contact megan.mitchell@oberlin.edu.

In the Shadow of the Carceral State: The Evolution of Feminist and Institutional Activism Against Sexual Violence

Bethany Gen Honors Thesis in Politics Advisor: David Forrest Readers: Kristina Mani and Cortney Smith Oberlin College Spring 2021 "It is not possible to accurately assess the risks of engaging with the state on a specific issue like violence against women without fully appreciating the larger processes that created this particular state and the particular social movements swirling around it. In short, the state and social movements need to be institutionally and historically demystified. Failure to do so means that feminists and others will misjudge what the costs of engaging with the state are for women in particular, and for society more broadly, in the shadow of the carceral state."

Marie Gottschalk, The Prison and the Gallows: The Politics of Mass Incarceration in America, p. 164

Acknowledgements

A huge thank you to my advisor, David Forrest, whose interest, support, and feedback was invaluable. Thank you to my readers, Kristina Mani and Cortney Smith, for their time and commitment.

Thank you to Xander Kott for countless weekly meetings, as well as to the other members of the Politics Honors seminar, Hannah Scholl, Gideon Leek, Cameron Avery, Marah Ajilat, for your thoughtful feedback and camaraderie. Thank you to Michael Parkin for leading the seminar and providing helpful feedback and practical advice.

Thank you to my roommates, Sarah Edwards, Zoe Guiney, and Lucy Fredell, for being the best people to be quarantined with amidst a global pandemic.

Thank you to Leo Ross for providing the initial inspiration and encouragement for me to begin this journey, almost two years ago.

Thank you to my family and friends for daily smiles and laughter and love.

Positionality Statement

I am a mixed-race, Chinese American, non-binary and genderqueer person. I come from an upper middle-class background, and I identify as able-bodied. I am a United States citizen. I do not identify as a survivor of sexual violence. I came upon this topic because of my interest in the intersection of gender, sexuality and politics; my passion for trans and queer BIPOC mental and sexual health; and because of my work with the Oberlin Office of Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion as a PRSM (Preventing and Responding to Sexual Misconduct) Student Trainer.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Positionality Statement	2
Abstract	4
Introduction	4
I. The Problem of Modern Carceral Feminism1	0
II. Radical Yet Palatable: Second Wave Activism Whitewashes Female Oppression	1
III. Anti-Feminist Backlash and the Rise of the Right3	8
IV. New Feminist Movements Against Sexual Violence4	5
V. 21st Century Anti-Rape Activism on College Campuses5	4
VI. Envisioning an Anti-Carceral Feminist Future6	7
Conclusion	4
Appendix A8	8
Bibliography9	7

<u>Content Warning:</u> This paper contains references, both implicit and explicit, to: sexual assault, sexual harassment, rape, racism, anti-Black racism, homophobia, transphobia, classism, and misogyny.

Abstract

This paper aims to trace the development of carceral feminist politics within United States institutions and feminist movements. I first define and describe Modern Carceral Feminism. I then argue that the development of Modern Carceral Feminism hinged on two different political moments: the development of a homogenous understanding of women's oppression in the second wave feminist movement, and the rising political salience of racialized crime leading to punitive policies nationwide in the mid-to-late 1970s and 1980s. As a result, carceral feminist logics became pervasive within institutional and feminist activism against sexual violence. By the 1980s, reactionary feminist anti-violence movements, like the anti-rape movement and the battered women's movement, relied on mostly punitive enforcement and policing. This tradition expanded with federal action against the so-called "campus rape epidemic" solidifying the domination of carceral feminist approaches in the 2010s. I end by highlighting a different kind of feminism, abolition feminism, coined by activist and legal scholar Angela Y. Davis. Learning from Black and POC-led abolition feminist organizations, I find that there are three key elements to activism that works to reduce both interpersonal violence as well as the violence caused by the carceral state.

Introduction

"Through examining the combination of our triumphs and errors, we can examine the dangers of an incomplete vision. Not to condemn that vision but to alter it, construct templates for possible futures, and focus our rage for change upon our enemies rather than upon each other." ~ Audre Lorde, in her speech "Learning from the '60s" at Harvard University in 1982 ~

You probably know *at least* one person who has experienced sexual violence, even if they have not disclosed that information to you (or, maybe you are a survivor of sexual violence yourself). This is because every 73 seconds, someone in the United States is sexually assaulted; one in every six women and one in every 33 men have experienced rape or attempted rape (RAINN). Despite centuries of social, political, and institutional activism, rape and sexual assault are still prominent parts of our capitalistic, patriarchal, white supremacist society – and only the most visible components seem to be changing. Current national discourse around sexual violence is shaped by the ongoing #MeToo movement. ¹ After the movement went viral in October 2017, over 19 million individuals tweeted "#metoo" in just the 11 months following (Anderson and Toor 2018). For the most part the #MeToo movement has become defined by the individual callouts of famous perpetrators and demands that they and others like them be punished – rather than calls for reforms that might address sexual assault's cultural and social underpinnings. During #MeToo, reports of sexual harassment and assault have implicated at least 262 celebrities, politicians, CEOs, and other prominent men in almost every occupation (North and others 2019). At least 200 of them have lost their jobs or prominent roles due to public allegations of sexual harassment (North and others 2019).² As demonstrated by the numerous high-profile cases that rocked the media, punishing perpetrators for their crimes has become the most salient aspect of the movement.

This is not to say that the #MeToo movement is *only* made of individual callouts. For example, #MeToo has the potential to change harassment and labor law³ as well as workplace culture (through workplace trainings, company policies, etc.). It has, so far, mildly accomplished

¹ Studies have shown that the #MeToo movement has changed Americans' relationships with sexual assault and sexual harassment. According to a 2018 NPR survey, 47 percent of Republicans and 26 percent of Democrats worry that a man they care about will be unfairly accused of sexual assault. In that same study, more than 40% of those surveyed say that the #MeToo movement has gone too far. See: Smith 2018.

² Including: U.S. senator for Minnesota Al Franken, actor Kevin Spacey, actor Andy Dick, head of NPR news Michael Oreskes, comedian and producer Louis C.K., editor at DC Comics Eddie Berganza, television host Charlie Rose, television anchor Matt Lauer, chef Johnny Iuzzini, opera conductor James Levine, NFL team owner Jerry Richardson, and chief executive of the Humane Society Wayne Pacelle (Carlsen and others 2018; Glamour 2019). The list - literally - goes on and on.

³ Interpretations of what constitutes "severe or pervasive" harassment could be updated in light of modern norms, instead of relying on culturally outdated precedent. Courts could apply the *Faraghar Defense* more stringently so that the threshold of what is deemed a "reasonable" effort by an employer to prevent and address discrimination is raised. Laws surrounding non-disclosure agreements could be changed to increase protections for survivors of sexual harassment and assault. Finally, labor laws could be changed to increase workplace protections and employer disciplinary practices, and make employer harassment and discrimination policies more transparent See: Tippett, 2018.

these things.⁴ These achievements are *very* limited in their impact, and they are far overshadowed by the stories in the headlines.

However, as the statistics I cited above illustrate, movements like #MeToo – and the policy reforms they inspire – have made minimal gains in reducing rape and sexual assault. The reason is that they have overall, been grounded in carceral feminist thinking. Carceral feminism is a term used by many different activists and academics. It is not a label under which anyone self-identifies; rather, it is a term used to refer to and criticize feminist support for punitive policies against sexual violence that have contributed to mass incarceration (Terwiel 2019). As exemplified by the recent #MeToo movement, carceral feminist approaches to sexual violence are twofold: first, they use the threat of criminal law and policing to deter future sexual harm; second, they employ state and federal incarceration systems as enforcement apparatus to punish those who cause harm. As I will explain later, carceral feminist frameworks fail to stop sexual assault and rape because not only are they ineffective at both goals – deterring and responding to harm – but they also contribute to the material and societal conditions that allow harm to occur.

#MeToo's carceral bias is not an isolated incident. Rather, as I explain over the course of this thesis, it is one of many instances where opponents of sexual violence have leaned primarily on punishment as the method of preventing and responding to sexual violence. Before #MeToo emerged, this trend was already present.

How did carceral feminism come to dominate grassroots feminist and institutional efforts to curb sexual violence in the United States? The rest of my thesis seeks to answer this question.

⁴A few states have banned non-disclosure agreements covering sexual harassment and introduced more protections for workers (especially independent contractors, and domestic and farm workers). Congress has passed legislation shortening the sexual harassment or assault report process and banning the use of taxpayer money in harassment settlements. The Time's Up Legal Defense Fund has helped thousands of lower-income survivors get legal representation See: North 2019.

To do so, I analyze the historical and political roots of contemporary anti-sexual violence activism and reforms, starting with feminist and institutional action in the 1960s. Along the way, I look at a range of movements, such as the anti-rape movement and the battered women's movement in the 1970s and 1980s. I also examine different federal policies in higher education – including Title IX and the Violence Against Women Act – which have become reinterpreted to implicate colleges and universities in the fight against sexual violence. In each case, I examine how important actors contributed to or reinforced the carceral bias found in campaigns like #MeToo.

Through my analysis, I argue that the carceral slant of contemporary anti-sexual violence efforts (by both non-profits, grassroots organizations, and institutions) stems from the conjunction of two developments. The first is the development of a homogenizing understanding of "women's oppression" which centered the experiences of privileged white women. The second development was the bipartisan adoption of conservative "tough on crime" policies and strategies beginning in the 1980s. These developments fostered the embrace of pro-carceral efforts to stop sexual violence by movements like the anti-rape movement and the battered women's movement, as well as later federal action against sexual harm in institutions of higher education.

As I delved into this research, I began to learn about different models of accountability and anti-violence action that activists and organizations have been using for decades. Their achievements are a testament to the potential of transformative justice and abolition-oriented work that operates outside of traditional carceral frameworks. Looking forward, I hope that feminist and institutional actors can learn from these liberatory models and evaluate past and current praxis to move toward a future of liberation for all. My thesis progresses chronologically. Each chapter covers a political moment that changed the course of feminist movements and institutional actions against sexual violence or illuminates the effects of that changing course. **Chapter I** begins by defining modern carceral feminism. It finds that carceral feminism is problematic because it fails at its own goal of punishing all perpetrators, it does not allow for long-term societal transformation, and it actually supports the conditions that cause violence to happen in the first place. **Chapter II** argues that second wave feminism (beginning in the 1960s) promoted a limited understanding of "women's oppression" that focused on white, well-off women's issues and, at times, intentionally dismissed the concerns of poor, BIPOC⁵, and LGBTQIA2-S⁶ women and gender-diverse individuals.

Chapter III covers the conservative shift in the United States' governance leading to popularization of policing and incarceration-based strategies for fighting violence against women. Also contributing to the increasingly punitive political atmosphere, anti-feminist backlash and an increase in violent crime triggered massive funding campaigns and activism for crime victims. **Chapter IV** demonstrates how – in the context of this limited understanding of "women's oppression" and the popularity of punitive criminal policy – grassroots activists fighting gender and sexual violence embraced carceral feminism. **Chapter V** shows how policymakers and officials were influenced by the carceral nature of previous anti-violence activism. Punitive laws like Title IX and the Violence Against Women Act reflect this carceral mindset and have direct negative impacts on students who have or are at risk of experiencing and/or causing sexual harm.

⁵ BIPOC stands for Black, Indigenous, and People of Color. BIPOC is a contemporary term and has gained recent popularity over another similar term, POC or People of Color, because of its emphasis on the experiences of the uniquely oppressed Black and Indigenous communities. See: Garcia 2020.

⁶ LGBTQIA2-S is the term I will be using to refer to the queer community. It stands for: Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans, Queer and Questioning, Intersex, Asexual and Aromantic, and Two-Spirit.

Finally, **Chapter VI** highlights the incredible and radical abolitionist work of numerous contemporary organizations. These individuals and groups provide liberatory models of antiviolence work led by and aimed toward those communities mainstream feminists have rejected for decades. Learning from these organizations, I argue that future anti-violence⁷ activists must intentionally center the experiences of multiply marginalized individuals⁸ in their feminist theory. They must also be aware of the ways in which the carceral state contributes to the perpetration of sexual violence. Finally, they must invest in and promote transformative justice alternatives to punishment.

⁷ I intentionally use the term anti-violence to refer to activism that aims to prevent interpersonal, sexual violence, *as well as* the violence perpetrated and supported by prison systems, policing, and the carceral state.

⁸ In using words like "marginalized" and "oppressed," I am merely referring to the societal, cultural, political, and economic challenges that these communities face. I want to emphasize that these BIPOC, queer, and/or low-income communities are **not defined by**, or constrained by, the oppression and marginalization they experience.

I. The Problem of Modern Carceral Feminism

My goal for this research is to explain how the carceral rhetoric of the late 20th and early 21st centuries became so prominent within feminist movements and institutional activism. I also hope to uncover to what extent this carceral perspective on gender equality has been solidified in U.S. law. Before diving in, it is important to define modern carceral feminism and explain why it is such a problematic framework for curbing sexual violence. Most people have not heard the term 'carceral feminism' before. Yet, as I will explain, since the 1960s onward modern carceral feminism has defined the most prominent efforts to stop sexual assault and rape. Furthermore, it has seriously limited those efforts, rendering them complicit with the cultural and material conditions that lead to sexual violence in the first place.

Defining Modern Carceral Feminism

The term carceral feminism was first coined by legal scholar Elizabeth Bernstein⁹ and has since evolved to define decades-long feminist reliance on the carceral system of policing and the punishment of crime. While there have been and continue to be many active anti-carceral strains of feminism, this modern carceral orientation has drowned out alternate perspectives on the national stage and become ensconced in U.S. law. This influential strategy utilizes and weaponizes carceral state actors and institutions such as prosecutors, courts, parole, probation, jails, and prisons to protect women and femmes (Bernstein 2010; Bernstein 2012; Kim 2019). In

⁹ Elizabeth Bernstein, a feminist sociologist, first coined the term "carceral feminism" in her 2010 article describing contemporary feminist antitrafficking efforts to abolish prostitution via aggressive law enforcement. She argues that, since the late 1990s, feminists, Evangelical Christians, and state agents coalesced around a battery of harsh antitrafficking laws that equate all prostitution with the crime of human trafficking. Further, Bernstein states that this represents a paradigm shift towards carceral understandings of gender justice, and an adoption of the carceral state as the enforcement apparatus for feminist goals. See: Bernstein 2010; Bernstein 2012; Terwiel 2019.

I use the work of scholars Elizabeth Bernstein and Mimi Kim to define carceral feminism as the theory and actions that use the criminal punishment system to deter, respond to, and punish acts of sexual violence, sexual harassment, and misogyny (Kim 2020, 251-269; Bernstein 2010; Bernstein 2012). I argue that carceral feminist strategies are, ultimately, procriminalization strategies. This is because carceral feminist methods include calling for longer minimum sentences, advocating for higher level offenses for sexual assault and harassment, increasing funding for police and other law enforcement bodies to spearhead the fight to end sexual violence, and working with lawmakers to write and pass laws punishing sexual violence (Kim 2020, 251-269). Carceral feminist logics argue that punishing perpetrators of sexual harm will not only keep the "bad apples" from further endangering the nation's women, but also it will deter future perpetration.

Today, the majority of activism spearheading recent feminist movements has been carceral in nature. I consequently use the term 'modern carceral feminism' to describe the uniquely punitive-oriented ideologies and traditions that developed in the United States in the past 60 years. As I explore in this paper, modern carceral feminism is a severely limited strategy that largely ignores the possibilities of taking preventive steps through cultural, societal, and community transformation. However, there are a variety of other feminist movements and

¹⁰ I use the term "criminal punishment system," like activists and advocates Alec Karakatsanis and Mariame Kaba, with intention. I use this term (instead of the more common 'criminal justice system') to not mislead readers with the intention of the criminal legal system. The intention of this system is to punish those it deems has broken the law. Hiding its true purpose and effect would be contrary to the purpose of my thesis.

organizations that challenge this carceral hegemony and offer a hope for a *truly anti-violence* approach to gender justice.

Why is Modern Carceral Feminism Problematic?

Throughout the decades, carceral feminist policies have attempted to address the sexual violence prevalent in U.S. society, culture, and institutions. These policies define accountability by punishment served. In the eyes of carceral feminists, if someone who caused harm is not sentenced to an appropriate punishment, justice has not been served and that individual has not been held accountable for their actions. This notion of accountability turns on our sense of *retribution*; it is a glorified eye-for-an-eye philosophy. However, this retributive version is not the only way to envision accountability. In Chapter VI, I will highlight the various ways that individuals and groups have re-envisioned accountability frameworks and successfully supported individual and community healing when harm has occurred.

Far-reaching carceral feminist laws – such as Title IX and the Violence Against Women Act – have been hailed as huge successes by mainstream feminists in the United States. However, they fall short in three key aspects. First, carceral feminism fails on its own terms: it is unsuccessful at prosecuting most perpetrators of sexual misconduct (while anywhere from 90 -98% of reports of sexual assault are true¹¹, only a fraction of these reports result in legal action) (National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2012). Second, by promoting an individualistic view of perpetration it fails to address the underlying economic and cultural causes of sexual harassment and assault. While these first two issues are important to point out, *I emphatically*

¹¹ The rate of false reports of sexual assault is between 2-10%. See: National Sexual Violence Resource Center 2012.

state that I do not advocate for "fixing" the criminal punishment system. That is because, most importantly, these carceral policies are complicit in fostering social and material inequality. They reinforce the conditions that allow the carceral state to harm communities at the margins, especially Black, low-income, and LGBTQIA2-S communities, and communities of color.

A Failure of Prosecuting Sexual Violence

Carceral feminist laws have not accomplished what they set out to do: holding perpetrators "accountable" via successful prosecutions. Despite widespread gender violence, criminal laws governing sex crimes frequently do not punish people who commit harm. Of the sexual assaults reported, only one fifth lead to an arrest, and of those with arrests, only one fifth are referred to prosecutors (RAINN). Of the few sexual violence cases that go to trial, only 50% of those cases will result in a felony conviction or in incarceration. Ultimately, out of every 1000 sexual assaults, 995 perpetrators will not go to jail or prison (RAINN).¹² Adopting carceral feminism's definition of accountability as punishment, this would mean that 995 perpetrators would not be held accountable for their actions.

For those advocating for punitive consequences, even cases resulting in convictions can feel like a loss. This is because sentences for sexual assault and harassment can often be shockingly light for a system dedicated to punishment. For example, in the famous Stanford case student athlete Brock Turner was convicted of three counts of sexual assault – yet received a sentence of 10 years and ended up spending a mere 6 months in jail (People v. Turner, 2018; Phillips and Chagnon 2020, 47-69). There was a lot of outcry after the length of the sentence was announced; those who believed that punishment equals accountability found no solace in such a

¹² In fact, I will argue later that carceral mechanisms are more conducive to deepening power imbalances then challenging them. Those who belong to racially stereotyped communities, poor communities, or who hold other margin identities are disproportionately convicted for their crimes, while members of privileged communities are more likely to escape conviction.

light sentence. In fact, over 55,000 people signed a Change.org petition to expel Santa Clara County Superior Court Judge Aaron Persky, who had handed down the sentence (Phillips and Chagnon 2020, 56). Therefore, of those cases that have gone to trial and successfully ended with a conviction, many end up with astonishingly light sentences.

There are many factors causing this failure to prosecute sexual violence. Notably, the criminal justice process itself often dissuades survivors from coming forward. Based on 2017 data, only one fifth of all sexual violence assaults are reported (RAINN). Survivors often do not report their assaults because they fear retaliation from the perpetrator and from society at large, they do not believe that the police would or could do anything to help, they don't think the rape or assault was important enough to report, and/or they feel ashamed and may even blame themselves for the trauma (RAINN; Kimble 2018). In addition, survivors are also often retraumatized as they go through legal processes. Sometimes the legal process is just as damaging and painful as the original crime¹³ (Katirai 2020). In courts, survivors also endure intense questioning and cross-examination by a lawyer – or sometimes by the perpetrator themselves – meant to shatter their credibility (Katirai 2020). Another factor holding up rape case prosecutions is the massive backlog of rape kits which have not been DNA-tested. It is estimated that hundreds of thousands of untested rape kits sit in storage in police and crime lab storage facilities (Merkley 2020). Finally, due to its nature the legal system is a very blunt tool. It must use a binary approach, which often proves inadequate for dealing with such nuanced and personal

¹³ During legal processes, survivors often experience and can be re-traumatized by: victim-blaming, explicitly or implicitly accusing someone of failing to prevent the trauma, and a multitude of other negative attitudes and behaviors such as: dismissive or unresponsive actions, and comments that minimize the survivor's experiences. See: Katirai, 2020.

issues like sexual assault and harassment. ¹⁴ Overall, criminal law continues to be unsuccessful at its own goal of punishing those found guilty of sexual assault and sexual harassment.

Dangers of an Individualistic Approach to Sexual Assault

Further, carceral feminist policies do not adequately address the underlying cultural and material causes of sexual assault. Carceral feminism, in its reliance on the criminal punishment system, takes an inherently individualistic approach, characterized by the trial and prosecution of individual cases. This myopic focus on the most visible symptoms of the problem overlooks the societal, cultural, and economic roots of the issue.

Sexual assault law such as SORNA is an example of the way this individualistic and essentialist view of sexual assault is entrenched in the criminal punishment system. SORNA, or the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act¹⁵, is the federal law that established a uniform, tiered system of registry for sex offenders age 14 and older who are not incarcerated (Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA); Ticknor and Warner 2020, 3-21). SORNA registries are publicly available. According to the U.S. Department of Justice, SORNA is, "important for public safety purposes."¹⁶ This is problematic because it essentializes the difference between 'rapists' and everyone else – 'rapists' are inherently criminal, and society

¹⁵ SORNA is established in Title 1 of the Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act of 2006.

¹⁴Part of the criminal punishment system's issue with prosecuting sexual harassment and assault is that its tools – the laws themselves – are hugely flawed. For example, for the past 50 years rape has generally been defined as sexual penetration *by force* AND *without consent* (Schulhofer 1998; Smith, P. 2004, 152). To determine that someone is guilty of rape, both requirements (force and nonconsent) must be met. Force is usually interpreted to mean literal physical compulsion. However, there is no universal legal definition of consent. Each state sets its own definition of consent through laws and court cases. Half of all states (Ohio included) do not formally define consent in their law (Noveck 2017). That said, most states have historically interpreted nonconsent as requiring *both* verbal (eg. saying no) and physical (eg. fighting back) resistance (Schulhofer 1998). The effect of these stringent requirements for a rape charge is that, if a survivor did not physically resist their attacker to the point of physical injury, it is often very difficult to reach a conviction. While some legal definitions of consent are currently changing, it is a very slow process, occurring state-by-state.

¹⁶ The U.S. DOJ report continues: "Sex offender registration is a system for monitoring and tracking sex offenders following their release into the community. The registration provides important information about convicted sex offenders to local and federal authorities and the public, such as offender's name, current location and past offenses. Currently, the means of public notification includes sex offender websites in all states, the District of Columbia, and some territories." See: Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA).

must be protected from them. SORNA policies effectively punish people convicted of sex crimes for the rest of their lives. All in all, SORNA creates a complex web of policies, enforcement, and institutions; it pours resources into the punishment of sex offenders instead of allocating them toward cultural, economic, or societal change.¹⁷

As SORNA shows, carceral feminist policies fall short in addressing the underlying rape culture¹⁸ that maintains power inequalities and perpetuates a cycle of violence. Instead, with every guilty verdict, this approach gives a false sense of security and accomplishment and makes rape culture even more invisible. It is easy to say that the problem is with certain men – rapists. However, the reality is that interpersonal forms of violence like sexual violence are especially, "rooted in or are not separable from the structural violence of ableism, classism, racism, sexism, heterosexism, transphobia, xenophobia, ageism, Christian supremacy, and [other] multiple permutations of oppression," (Kim 2019). Therefore, a more nuanced understanding of the influence of cultural and societal factors is necessary to address the roots of sexual violence.

Focusing only on punishing individual perpetrators also ignores the material conditions that enable rape to occur. Economic and class structures that cause material inequality are just as important as culture when thinking about the distribution of power within society. For example, one study on sexual harassment in housing found that sexual coercion is the most common form of harassment for women in housing (Tester 2008, 349). It also found that intersections of race, gender, and class oppressions shape this harassment. Utilizing their authority as well as racialized gender stereotypes, landlords exploit their tenants' economic vulnerabilities and

¹⁷ This is articulated eloquently by Marie Gottschalk: "In the United States there has been a greater tendency to conceive of social problems in terms of individual traits and personalities in need of therapy rather than as a consequence of deeper social and economic problems." See: Gottschalk 2006, 87.

¹⁸ Rape culture is the amalgam of societal, cultural, and institutional phenomena that normalize and perpetuate sexual violence, gender inequality, and rape. Our society—founded upon gender inequality—has abolished many overt forms of gender inequality, but there is much work yet to be done to eradicate gender inequality and sexual violence in its many overt and covert forms.

sexually coerce them (Tester 2008, 351). They also use these same strategies and factors – as well as knowledge of tenants' economic status – to intentionally manipulate tenants and defend themselves against reports of harassment.¹⁹ Oftentimes, landlords mask their behavior as "helping" (playing upon gendered ideologies of male economic independence to further establish authority and power) (Tester 2008, 356).

Landlords are not the only individuals who have been found to intentionally manipulate those who are already economically, politically, and/or socially marginalized. Another study on "police sexual misconduct" (a term referring to anything from sexual harassment, to extortion, to rape) found that most police sexual misconduct incidents involved motorists, young people in job-shadowing programs, students, victims of violence, and informants (Ritchie 2018). A second nationwide study found that over half of officer arrests for sexual misconduct involved incidents with minors (Ritchie 2018). In all these situations, the police officer enjoys an immense sense of power and authority over civilians.

Police who commit sexual misconduct *target people they do not think would be believed* if they filed complaints (thus, taking advantage of racial, gendered, homophobic stereotypes and oppressions). This often includes women of color, trans women, women who use drugs or alcohol, and women involved in the sex trade (Ritchie 2018). Even if a survivor of police sexual violence *does* come forward, most likely they must go to *the police themselves* to report the incident.

By focusing on the most visible prosecutions, modern carceral feminism espouses a misleading view of the causes of rape and sexual assault. While individual men are part of the

¹⁹ One complaint filed to the Ohio Commission on Civil Rights reads: "On or around September 30, 2002, Linda told Mark, her landlord, that she would be unable to pay the full amount of her rent. Mark responded by telling her that she could take care of the unpaid balance by having sex with him. When she told him 'no', she was evicted." See: Tester 2008, 356.

problem, the material conditions and cultures of our society are a part of the issue. Landlords and police are just some of the people in positions of power who can take advantage of existing inequalities to abuse others. This demonstrates that structural factors must also be addressed if sexual violence is to be reduced. Ultimately, holding individuals accountable for their actions is an important step, yet it is an insufficient approach by itself.

The Dominance and Violence of the Feminist-supported Carceral State

Finally, carceral feminist policies do not just ignore existing social, cultural, and material inequality – they also reproduce the conditions that cause sexual violence in the first place. Carceral feminist activism has played a significant role in the expansion of the criminal punishment system and the mass incarceration of Black and brown people today (Gottschalk 2006). Legal scholar Mimi E. Kim describes the relationship between feminism and the carceral state succinctly: "Feminist reform strategies that demanded response from law enforcement were often initiated from an adversarial position [to the carceral state] but devolved into mandates contributing to the policies of mass incarceration," (Kim 2019). Mass incarceration helps reproduce basic material scarcity in ways that often fall along racial lines (Alexander 2020). Mass incarceration overwhelmingly affects communities already economically marginalized, often communities of color (due to systemic racism) and other oppressed communities. Thus, in maintaining or even deepening material inequalities, mass incarceration can uphold material inequalities that contribute to sexual violence.

In the campaign for gender equality, carceral feminism has ignored intersectional dynamics and even actively oppressed other marginalized groups. Kim described these agendas as "accompanied by persisting gender, race, and class tropes used to justify pro-criminalization strategies and obfuscate impacts on marginalized communities" (Kim 2020, 251-269). Neglectful at best and actively harmful at worst, these color-blind activist frameworks – while overtly

renouncing racist myths of sexual violence – further white middle and upper-class priorities at the expense of others' bodily autonomy (Kim 2020, 251-269). White, well-off women led the campaign for carceral solutions to sexual violence; and BIPOC, queer, and low-income communities have suffered because of it.

The reliance on policing, prosecution, imprisonment, and post-imprisonment surveillance puts BIPOC communities and other minorities at disproportionate risk. In all interactions with the criminal punishment system, Black individuals and those of other marginalized identities experience more devastating outcomes than their white, privileged counterparts. This includes when police officers interact with Black individuals, when prosecutors decide what charges to bring and what sentences to recommend, when judges decide sentencing lengths, and when parole boards consider who can be released (Ticknor and Warner 2020, 3-21). Black defendants are 5x more likely to be sent to prison than their white counterparts, and they receive longer sentences in state prisons (NAACP). In addition, nearly half of all U.S. states have a mandatory arrest law that requires that all police responses to domestic violence calls lead to an arrest (Hirschel 2008). This was motivated partially by efforts to challenge the disproportionate number of men of color arrested for domestic violence while white men were largely given impunity. It has yet to do so (Kim 2019).

One famous example of this discrepancy is the drastic difference in sentencing outcomes of two very famous, similar rape cases. In 2013, Cory Batey, a Black college football player, was sentenced to 15 years in prison for raping an unconscious Vanderbilt University student. As I noted earlier, three years later white college swimmer Brock Turner was sentenced to only six months in jail for his similar rape of an unconscious woman on the Stanford campus (Shapiro 2016). The only notable differences between these two cases that could account for the drastic gap in outcomes is that Turner is a wealthy white man, while Batey is not. This example shows how race and class disparities permeate the criminal punishment system.

For convicted Black perpetrators, these racist outcomes follow them even after release from jail or prison. Black individuals are two and a half times more likely than whites to be overclassified in the tiered SORNA system (Ticknor and Warner 2020, 3-21). Classification rests on the evaluation of "criminal history variables" and severity of the crime, which are affected by racial biases (Ticknor and Warner 2020, 3-21). It is well established that for Black individuals who are over-classified in SORNA, this can change the course of the rest of their lives. Being classified in a higher tier means required registration for 10 additional years to life, and more frequent requirements to contact local law enforcement (Ticknor and Warner 2020, 3-21).

Furthermore, many individuals experience violence while in the arms of the criminal punishment system. Feminist pro-criminalization strategies fail to address these harms experienced by survivors of sexual violence in jails and prisons. There are an estimated 200,000 people in U.S. prisons who are raped every year (Press 2018). A whopping 60% of all sexual violence against inmates is perpetrated by jail or prison staff; more than half of the sexual contact between inmates and staff members (all of which is illegal) is nonconsensual (RAINN). Incarcerating more people increases the number of individuals at risk of sexual assault and harassment. By participating in the excesses and harm of criminalization, carceral feminist strategies promote violence. They are not inherently anti-violence strategies.

In this chapter, I showed how carceral feminism not only fails to do what it aims to do (namely, preventing harm from occurring and punishing perpetrators when it does), but it also contributes directly to economic, racial, and racialized gender oppression. Although feminist goals are overall emancipatory, by using the power of policing and incarceration carceral feminism inherently relies on repression and violence. In the following chapter, I will discuss how these harmful feminist methods and strategies have evolved through the years.

II. Radical Yet Palatable: Second Wave Activism Whitewashes Female Oppression

"The institution of marriage has the same effect the institution of slavery had... The masses of slaves didn't recognize their condition, either. To say that a woman is really 'happy' with her home and kids is as irrelevant as saying that the Blacks were 'happy' being taken care of by [their master]²⁰." $\sim Ti$ -Grace Atkinson, white feminist activist²¹ ~

The roots of white feminism in the United States run deep. Beginning as far back as the 1800s, white women's priorities have defined U.S. feminist movements. For centuries, white feminists have coopted and built off the accomplishments of feminists of color while ignoring or even actively pushing these same BIPOC women and individuals out (Grady 2018).²² I will argue that the oppressive emphasis on white women's priorities, at the cost of excluding intersectional issues, took root during the 1960s and 70s and laid the foundation for Modern Carceral Feminism.

Born out of the tumultuous civil rights era, the second wave of feminism won a broad

base of support through its focus on the issues that were purportedly important to all women.

²⁰ Racist and outdated terminology has been replaced.

²¹ See *Lear*, 1968.

²² The first wave of feminism, defined by the struggle for women's suffrage, exemplifies this strategy well. In the mid-nineteenth century, the movement for women's suffrage and the abolitionist movement were closely tied (Grady 2018). However, despite the immeasurable contributions of women of color to the suffrage movement, it quickly became defined by *white* female priorities. The 1870 passage of the 15th Amendment, giving Black men the right to vote, spurred a wave of angry white female activism that exacerbated pre-existing racial prejudices. These white women were angry that they were still denied the right to vote, when Black and formerly enslaved men could do so (Grady 2018). Black women were segregated from the white women during some demonstrations and barred from participation in others. In one edition of the Revolution, the newspaper created by Elizabeth Cady Stanton and Susan B. Anthony, a white woman wrote: "If educated women are not as fit to decide who shall be the rulers of this country as, as 'field hands,' then where's the use of culture, or any brain at all?" (Grady 2018). This discarding of Black and other marginalized voices for the convenience of white feminists has continued since.

These issues included working rights, male chauvinism, and general social equality. Led by the National Organization of Woman (NOW), the mainstream feminist movement did achieve many radical and revolutionary goals. However, in the process it also excluded women of color, queer women, and women of lower economic status. Thus, the issues prioritized by the organization were, in reality, white, heterosexist, and middle- and upper-class priorities. The laws and precedents that came from this era of feminism laid the legal groundwork for Modern Carceral Feminism dominating feminist and institutional action against sexual violence today. The effects of this era were ideological as well as legal, leaving behind a wealth of precedents and equal rights laws that continue to guide our government today. Ultimately, second wave feminist efforts laid down the legal and discursive framework for Modern Carceral Feminism by defining the movement against sexual violence around the concept of the typical 'female victim' who is primarily oppressed by her gender.

The "Women's Liberation" Movement is Born

In the early sixties, feminists had a problem: the movement was practically dead. Feminist and sociologist Alice Rossi wrote that, "There is no overt anti-feminism in our society in 1964 not because sex equality has been achieved, but because there is practically no feminist spark left among American women" (Zinn 2015). Instead, throughout the 60s and into the 70s, a handful of other social movements engulfed United States' society.

One of the most famous movements of this era was the Civil Rights movement. The goal of this activism was to gain basic civil rights, eliminate the system of Jim Crow segregation, and counteract some of the worst aspects of racism experienced by Black Americans daily (Janken). Some of the greatest achievements of this movement were the Supreme Court 1954 *Brown v. Board of Education* decision, Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Voting Rights Act of 1965

(Janken). The anti-war movement, provoked by U.S. involvement in the war in Vietnam, also gained significant traction during the late sixties. This anti-war movement was in response to the atrocities performed by U.S. forces in Southeast Asia, by the vast number of casualties of the war, and by the draft, among other things (Zinn 2015). There were several other smaller movements active during the same time frame. The American Indian movement began in the early 1960s, where Native American activists protested systemic issues of racism, poverty, police violence, and governmental discrimination; at the same time, the prison abolition movement advocated for improving conditions in the country's jails and prisons (Zinn 2015).

The second wave of feminism, concentrated primarily in cities and on college campuses, was galvanized by this era of social change and especially by the recent legal successes of the civil rights movement (Davidson 1969, 67-78). In fact, feminist activists often came *from* backgrounds of activism for other causes (Zinn 2015). For example, female activists from civil rights groups²³, anti-war groups, and Students for a Democratic Society, began meeting and organizing as women. The second wave feminist movement was heavily influenced by these other popular social movements. There was debate among feminist activists about whether to focus on specifically women's issues, or to continue to participate in general movements against racism, war, and capitalism (Lear 1968). Mainstream feminists chose the former, arguing that women's issues were interrelated to and transcended other issues of the time. According to them, simply being a woman became the uniting force that brought many disparate groups together. These feminists coined the one-size-fits-all term "Women's Liberation" accordingly (Lear 1968).

²³ For example, one early feminist activist was Ruby Doris Smith, a Spelman College student of the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee. She was jailed during the 1960 Greensboro lunch counter sit-ins, yet when she voiced concerns about the treatment of women in the SNCC, along with two other female activists, their voices went unheard. As another example, in early 1968 at a women's antiwar meeting in Washington, hundreds of women carrying torches paraded to the Arlington National Cemetery and staged, "The Burial of Traditional Womanhood." See: Zinn, 2015.

This foundational assumption of the universal female experiences, however, was formed primarily by activists whose *only* oppression was in their womanhood. Other activists of color and of the working class (among other intersectional identities) were then forced to choose.²⁴ In the face of these multiple oppressions, for many women male chauvinism simply was not a high priority as it did not bring food to the table, change social conditions or daily discrimination, or alleviate police brutality.

The second wave feminist movement gained traction in mainstream culture as more privileged classes of women – white, middle-class professional women – began speaking out as well. This shift in priorities is illustrated by the popular books of the time. Best-seller books like Betty Friedan's 1963 *The Feminist Mystique*, which sold 3 million copies nationwide, and Simone de Beauvoir's 1949 *The Second Sex*, bemoaned the plight of the middle-class housewife, while ignoring the many other issues that less privileged women face (Zinn 2015).

In response to this groundswell of white, middle-class feminist activism, the National Organization of Women (NOW) was formed 1966. NOW differed from other feminist organizations of the time in both its scale and its reach. The first national organization for women's rights, NOW was formed to end sex discrimination and, according to its statement of purpose, to work "toward true equality for all women in America, and toward a fully equal partnership of the sexes" (Wolfe 2015). Even from the beginning, NOW prioritized unity over tackling other, more complicated forms of oppression that required a more critical view of the state and society. According to a 1968 New York Times article, "Within NOW, the feminists are

²⁴ Lesbian feminists were one example of individuals who faced this conundrum of organizing around their womanhood or other intersectional identities. Radicalesbians (originally called the Lavender Menace) was a group formed in 1970 due to the lack of intersectionality within feminist and gay rights organizations. Its members joined due to sexism in gay rights organizations like the Gay Liberation Front (GLF) and the Gay Activists Alliance, as well as homophobia in the National Organization for Women (NOW). One year later, the group dissolved as some members went back to the GLF. See: Myers 2013.

not anxious to alienate anyone (on both the left and the right)," (parentheses in original text) (Lear 1968).

Second wave mainstream feminists began their fight for equality for all women by focusing on transgressions against the archetypical female body. Many important feminist issues (such as parental leave, abortion, discrimination at work due to potential pregnancy, and contraception) centered around perceived "violations" of female bodily autonomy. Rallying behind this idea of shared biology, mainstream feminists were able to focus on issues that affected "all women."²⁵ The association of biology with womanhood was also exemplified in the theory of "biological difference"²⁶ – the belief of the equality but also the fundamental difference between men and women – that supported the creation of women's groups nationwide (Zinn 2015). This emphasis on the common biology of women compared to men rhetorically attempted to include "all" women.²⁷ The idea was that all women are biologically different than men in the same ways, and so this overarching similarity would surpass superficial differences like race, class, etc.²⁸

Building off of this understanding of the universality qualities of "women's oppression," major issues of the second wave feminist movement involved violations of bodily freedom, specifically regarding sexuality and reproductive rights. Beginning in the 1970s, people began talking openly for the first time about the problem of rape. For the first time, they named the

²⁵ It is important to note, however, that second wave feminist rhetoric erroneously focused on *women's* bodies as if all women are capable of reproduction and as if all people capable of reproduction are women.

²⁶ There is more biological difference *within* female and male sexes than *between* them. This excludes intersex people, unfortunately. See *Eliot*, 2019.

²⁷ Interestingly, another example of the ways that assumptions about "female" biology influenced feminism is the offshoot of the movement that was called ecofeminism (Grady 2018). This strain of feminism believed that women were uniquely empowered to advocate for the environment because of their distinct biological connection with the earth and the lunar cycles through their menstrual cycles (Grady 2018).

²⁸ Nowadays this biology-focused feminist perspective is reflected by TERFs, or Trans-Exclusionary Radical Feminists. This group of people actively excludes trans women and anyone else they deem "not a biological woman" from the feminist movement and from "women-only" spaces. It seems clear that these transphobic ideas can be traced back through to the second wave methodology. See Hines 2019.

social underpinnings of sexual violence, calling rape a "social problem." This is now referred to as rape culture (Bumiller 2008; Grady 2018). Activists organized to spread awareness of sexual assault, rape, and domestic violence as societal ills that required systemic solutions. This is embodied by the popularity of *Against Our Will*, a book by Susan Brownmiller, which talked about the systemic problem of rape and encouraged women to "fight back" individually and collectively against their social and bodily oppression (Zinn 2015). This perspective on rape and sexual assault generally continues today. The right to abortion was also a major, yet controversial, issue centering the female body (Grady 2018). Feminists were successful in legalizing abortion nationally with *Roe v. Wade*, which passed specifically because of the *privacy* argument – that illegalizing abortion infringed on people's right (constitutionally implied by the Bill of Rights) to self-determination in the privacy of their own home or body (Eskridge, Hunter, and Joslin 1997). Overall, second wave feminist focus on rape and abortion underscored the desire to coalesce support around seemingly universal women's issues.

Another universal issue that garnered hordes of feminist support was the Equal Rights Amendment, or the ERA. For decades, feminists ardently campaigned for the passage of the ERA, which aimed to guarantee social equality regardless of sex (Rampton 1999). It would expand upon the rights established in the "because of sex" clause, which only applied to employment settings and to organizations with more than fifteen employees – excluding half of the workforce (Thomas 2016). However, due to many factors including widespread conservative opposition, this goal was never achieved, and passing the ERA remains an issue to this day.

The overarching goal of the second wave women's movement was to gain social equality through legislation. It focused on the more obvious, physical oppression of women through the universalization of the female body and female issues. This gender essentialism fostered the conditions for the women's movement to focus on purportedly universal issues that, in reality, mattered mostly for privileged white women. In the sections that followed, I will describe how the push for purportedly universal women's rights superseded any nuanced discussion of the ways that women were oppressed and constrained in ways outside of the mere physical. With this uncomplicated view of women's oppression, the mainstream feminist movement utilized falsely inclusionary and ultimately exclusionary discourse.

Defining Womanhood: Sowing the Seeds of Modern Carceral Feminism

What made the second wave feminist movement so unique and far-reaching was, in large part, its methodology. Led and popularized by NOW,²⁹ consciousness-raising was one of the primary strategies utilized by the feminist movement (Thomas 2016; Grady 2018). This was where women's groups would meet in local homes or community spaces and talk about their experiences of oppression (Grady 2018). Consciousness-raising was a truly grassroots effort to bring awareness to people of all walks of life about their similar oppressions. It aimed to give them a space to share in their experiences and recognize the ways that sexism and misogyny affect their everyday lives.

Part of the uniqueness of consciousness-raising groups was that they were "women-only" spaces (Thomas 2016). NOW and many prominent feminists of that era believed that women-only spaces created a special dynamic free of the patriarchal power structures often recreated in mixed gender groups (Grady 2018). The movement utilized rhetoric that women were *distinctly different* than and just as good as, if not better, than men (women solved problems differently and had different strengths, among other things) (Zinn 2015). However, I argue that this philosophy has had long-standing reverberating effects on feminist activism since. The effect of

²⁹ NOW was one of the first groups that was devoted specifically to women's rights and spearheaded much of the feminist activism, especially feminist legal activism, of the time. See: Zinn 2015.

rhetorically and physically separating women from other genders allowed feminists to claim to speak on behalf of women universally – when, in reality, they represented relatively exclusive communities. Among groups of women already self-selected for prioritizing gender issues over other intersectional oppressions, this continued the process of narrowing the voices contributing to NOW's work. Dean Spade reflects on these ironically exclusionary effects in his article entitled "Intersectional Resistance and Law Reform" (Spade 2013):

"The purportedly universal subject of rights is actually a very specific and narrow category of persons. The ability to avail oneself of supposedly universal rights in fact often requires whiteness, wealth, citizenship, the status of being a settler rather than indigenous, and/or conformity to body, health, gender, sexuality, and family norms."

Thus, womanhood increasingly meant white, middle- or upper-class, straight and cisgender women. However, not all exclusion was so indirect. This separation of the "other" from woman-only spaces was also accomplished through *active exclusion* and *using intentionally identity-flattening rhetoric*. As bell hooks describes, "feminist emphasis on "common oppression" in the United States was less a strategy for politicization than an appropriation by conservative and liberal women of a radical political vocabulary that masked the extent to which they shaped the movement so that it addressed and promoted their class interests," (hooks 2015, 6). This universalizing rhetoric allowed the main thrust of the feminist movement to ignore the needs of BIPOC, working class, and LGBTQIA2-S women and individuals, and instead center the feminist struggle around white privileged gender oppression. Despite touting this "inclusive" and "revolutionary" rhetoric which appeared to cater to intersectional populations, I will demonstrate that the women's movement increasingly pushed Black, lower class, and queer women and individuals to the outskirts for what they deemed the sake of the movement. The mainstream movement accomplished this by ignoring issues important to these communities and, sometimes, by overtly discriminating against them. By excluding feminists of other marginalized

identities from their ranks, the second wave feminist movement was able to define their priorities and actions early on by primarily white, middle- and upper-class interests. This meant that these intersectional voices would be left out of later activism and legal decisions as the movement turned its attention to sexual violence in the following years.

Betty Friedan's 'Lavender Herring:' Heterosexism Within the Movement

Lesbian women not only faced the sexism and misogyny that all women experienced, but they also endured rampant homophobia – especially from other feminist activists. Since the birth of NOW, they had been fighting for visibility within the organization and the feminist movement as a whole (Goodman 2019). However, anxious to disassociate themselves from the "lesbian man-haters" stereotype, the mainstream second wave women's movement quickly brushed aside LGBTQIA2-S feminists.

Homophobic and heterosexist discrimination pervaded the leadership of NOW. Betty Friedan viewed the lesbians in NOW as tangential to the organization's purpose. She called them the "lavender herring" and believed that they corroded the image of NOW and even diverted the organization from working towards its ultimate goal of equality for women (Myers 2013). These sentiments permeated NOW from the top down, leading to what many have called "purges" of lesbian members (Myers 2013; Gilmore and Kaminski 2007). During these lesbian purges, lesbian leaders of NOW chapters³⁰ were systematically voted out of office or banished from participating in the organization's functions (Gilmore and Kaminski 2007). In response, several prominent lesbian feminists left the organization and formed The Lavender Menace (a transmutation of the Friedan's derogatory term), later renamed the Radicalesbians (Pomerleau 2010, 842-61; Myers 2013). In response to rejection by the leadership of NOW, the Lavender

³⁰ For example, within the influential New York City chapter of NOW, lesbian leaders Rita Mae Brown and Ti-Grace Atkinson were forced out. See: Gilmore and Kaminski 2007.

Gen 30

Menace took over NOW's second Congress to Unite Women³¹ in New York City on May 1, 1971. They demanded that lesbian issues be included in NOW's platform (Myers 2013; Pomerleau 2010, 842-61). Karla Jay writes, of that time, "It was time to tell the women's movement we would not be ignored any longer," (Goodman 2019). This conflict over the inclusion of LGBTQIA2-S issues in NOW's platform reflects queer feminists' fight visibility within the movement. Although NOW eventually accommodated lesbian and queer issues to some extent³² – due to the tenacity of lesbian and queer feminists – the main priorities of the second wave movement did not change course.

The Movement Establishes Class Priorities

The second wave women's movement also focused primarily on privileged women, while ignoring issues important to lower- and working-class feminists. It first did this through class-flattening rhetoric. For example, second-wave feminists liked to refer to women as a monolithic social class. This was utilized through comparisons to the working class in Marxist theory and through comparisons to the civil rights movement against anti-Black racism (MacKinnon 1982, 515-544; MacKinnon 1989). In MacKinnon's influential work drawing from that era, she directly compares the feminist movement to socialist uprising in Marxist theory and writes that women's struggle is synonymous with class struggle (MacKinnon 1982). In her eyes, women constituted a lower social class – from this perspective, "race, class, and gender oppressions are all related," (MacKinnon 1982). Other activists quoted French philosopher Auguste Comte, who

³¹ NOW's first Congress to Unite Women, held in 1970, had intentionally excluded lesbian organizations like Daughters of Bilitis from their list of sponsors. Founded in 1955, the Daughters of Bilitis was the first lesbian organization in the United States produced the first nationally distributed lesbian periodical, "The Ladder." See *Goodman, 2019* and *Library of Congress.*

³² In 1973, NOW established a task force on sexuality and lesbianism. Six years later, it helped organize the first national March on Washington for Lesbian and Gay Rights. By the 1990s, NOW had organized two national lesbian rights conferences, and had one full time staff person working on lesbian issues and rights. See: Gilmore and Kaminski 2007.

said that "the feminine revolution... must now complete the proletarian revolution..." (Lear 1968). The rhetoric of class/feminist struggle, however, did not lead to the inclusion of working-class issues in the feminist agenda.

Instead, feminists conflated privileged women's issues with universal women's issues. For example, Betty Friedan's *The Feminine Mystique*, the rallying cry for women all over the country, described the "problem that has no name" (Grady 2018). This was the systemic sexism that defined their interpersonal lives and dictated their place as housewives (Grady 2018). The "problem that has no name" was only applicable to middle- or upper-class women. This is because women of lower socioeconomic status often *had to work outside of the home* to support themselves and their families. Earning the right to work outside of the home was not a concern that pertained to them (Grady 2018). Instead, working class women experienced oppression very differently.³³ Many were more concerned about fighting for access to contraception and abortion (Grady 2018). Other working-class women faced discrimination in the workplace that remained unaffected by the passage of Title VII³⁴ (Thomas 2016; Grady 2018). Overall, feminists of the lower and working classes did not find themselves and their needs represented within the center of the mainstream feminist movement.

Implicit and Explicit Anti-Black Racism Within the Movement

The second wave women's movement acted similarly with regards to race. They utilized racialized analogies to build off the successes of the recent civil rights movement – while simultaneously ignoring the needs of BIPOC women and individuals. Martha Weinman Lear

³³ It is important to note that while feminists of lower- and working-classes faced unique challenges, those issues also often intersected with those faced by feminists of color due to structural racism and the racial lines of generational wealth. While issues of race and class are distinct, they do align in important ways.

³⁴ Much of the feminist legal activism surrounding sex discrimination in the workplace was beneficial to working women. However, it mostly benefitted women in higher paying jobs. Other lower-class women, especially farm workers and domestic workers, were not and are still not affected by Title VII because it only applies to businesses of 15 employees or more. See: Thomas 2016.

writes for the New York Times in 1968 that, "For all of [the members of NOW] the central issue is civil rights, as purely defined as in the [Black]³⁵ civil-rights movement" (Lear 1968). She describes further that, ""NOW often makes this analogy between the [Black individual]³⁶ and the woman in society, calling itself, in fact, a sort of N.A.A.C.P. for women," (Lear 1968). Other activists, such as Ti-Grace Atkinson³⁷ as quoted in the epigraph of this chapter, made alarming comparisons between the oppression of women and the oppression of Black people in the U.S.

Despite frequent references to the recent civil rights movement, the mainstream feminist movement did little for Black feminists and feminists of color. Early anti-rape activism downplayed or even ignored how the charge of rape had been used historically to reinforce white supremacy in the United States (Gottschalk 2006). It ignored issues important to Black feminists and feminists of color; for example, instead many Black women (many of whom were working class) were more concerned with fighting the forced sterilization of BIPOC people and individuals with disabilities (Grady 2018). Many feminists of color experienced racism even within the ranks of feminist organizations (hooks 2015, 13-14).

Because the mainstream feminist movement was not serving them or recognizing their contributions, many Black women decamped from feminism to create womanism (Howard University School of Law; Grady 2018). The term "womanism" was coined by Black radical feminist, activist, and author Alice Walker, in her work *In Search of our Mothers' Gardens: Womanist Prose* (Howard University School of Law). In 1983 Walker wrote: "Womanist is to feminist as purple is to lavender," (Grady 2018). Womanist theory celebrates all women but specifically emphasizes the lives of Black women and Black communities (Howard University

³⁵ Racist and outdated terminology has been replaced.

³⁶ Racist and outdated terminology has been replaced.

³⁷ See *Lear*, 1968.

School of Law). However, the womanism movement never achieved the same influence as the mainstream feminist movement and did not have much influence on the traditional movement's legal advocacy.

So far, I have demonstrated how the second wave of feminism formed by distinguishing universalized "women's issues" from the fray of the other contemporary movements. This rhetoric reduced the priorities of the feminist movement down to just those that were important to white, straight, well-off women. Via exclusion of Black feminists, feminists of color, lesbian and queer feminists, and working-class feminists – the primary actors of the second wave feminist movement defined the female subject of the state as white, middle-class, heterosexual, and cisgender. This archetypical woman was depicted as victimized and oppressed by the biologically distinct male above other societal oppressions.

With "male chauvinism" as their overwhelming main priority – over other concerns of the ways that interpersonal and institutional racism, classism, homophobia, transphobia, and more intersect with women's oppression –white mainstream feminists found allies in the legal system and the criminal punishment system (Davidson 1969, 67-78). Feminist legal and criminal law advocacy evolved from just one strategy among many to *the main thrust of the feminist movement*. This happened over the span of a few decades as national laws and court decisions encouraged feminists to continue along the path and build off of previous legal successes. As I will articulate next, the precedents set by second wave legal activism framed the priorities and methods of the laws that now embody Modern Carceral Feminism.

"Because of Sex:" Early Successes in Legislating for Social Equality

As discussed in the previous chapter, the feminist movement used universalizing discourse to gain traction within U.S. culture. In this section, I will present early feminist legal

activism of the 70s. Riding on the momentum of the burgeoning movement, several early legal victories encouraged activists to pursue a predominantly legal approach. This legal approach reflected the effects of the second wave's exclusionary tactics – specifically its focus on male chauvinism as the main problem over systemic, intersectional oppression.

The overarching goal of the mainstream second wave feminist movement was to achieve social equality through the law (Lear 1968). The Civil Rights movement contributed immensely to the feminist movement's first legislative successes. Under pressure from several powerful civil rights organizations and activists, Congress passed the Equal Pay Act of 1963 which outlawed the gender pay gap, in theory (Grady 2018). One year later, the 1964 Civil Rights Amendment was passed (its primary purpose was to rectify the lack of rights for Black individuals) (Thomas 2016). Within this huge law contained two sections that were invaluable for the feminist movement. The first was Title IV which prohibited discrimination "based on sex" in public educational institutions (Thomas 2016). The second, Title VII, prohibited discrimination "because of sex" in employment. Finally, due to these new laws, Congress also created the Equal Employment Opportunity Coalition (EEOC)³⁸ for enforcement (Thomas 2016; United States Department of Justice 2012; United States Courts). Finally, in 1967 President Johnson signed an executive order banning sex discrimination in federally connected employment (Zinn 2015).

³⁸ Despite its mandate, it took many years for the EEOC to start taking Title VII seriously. The EEOC itself was plagued by chauvinism, and many directors and workers believed that Title VII was a "fluke" (Thomas 2016). The idea that all jobs should be open to both men and women was a running joke within the agency (Thomas 2016). Officials and outsiders alike laughed at the EEOC's "bunny problem" – the notion that men would have to be hired to be Playboy bunnies in the name of gender equality in the workplace (Thomas 2016). NOW lobbied and protested furiously to get the EEOC to start taking more aggressive positions against sexual harassment and assault in the workplace. They were ultimately successful. In 1965 the EEOC issued its first of many "Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex" (Thomas 2016). While none of these guidelines have enforcement mechanism, they are symbolically important because they clarify how the government views and interprets the "because of sex" clause, and they are taken into consideration in court cases nationwide.

Later feminist successes came quickly after, as feminist organizations began working through the courts and using litigation to *enforce* these new laws demanding gender equality. This first thrust of activism centered around winning equal rights in the workplace. NOW was an important leader in this wave of legal activism. Building from these new laws, it initiated over a thousand suits against U.S. corporations, charging sex discrimination under the 1964 "because of sex" clause of the Civil Rights Amendment (Zinn 2015).³⁹ These lawsuits successfully expanded legal definitions of sex discrimination to include sexual harassment and assault. This is important to understanding Modern Carceral Feminism because, as I will demonstrate in later chapters, feminist successes of litigating sexual harassment and assault later translated into efforts to incorporate sexual harassment and assault into criminal law as well.

Legal Activism Against Sexual Harassment

The term 'sexual harassment' was coined for the first time in 1975 by three Cornell University professors named Lin Farley, Susan Meyer, and Karen Sauvigne (Strebeigh 2009; Thomas 2016). Farley lectured about sexual harassment in New York City's Human Rights Commission Hearings in April 1975. A month later, she and others organized a "speak-out" at Cornell about this injustice (Aron 2017). This speak-out led them to create a new organization, which they called Working Women United (later renamed the Working Women's Institute). The resulting New York Times article about these events, "Women Begin to Speak Out Against Sexual Harassment at Work" is the first time that the new term "sexual harassment" was published for a national audience (Aron 2017; Thomas 2016; Nemy 1975).

³⁹ This galvanization of legal activism had its desired effects. In 1971, the Supreme Court decision in *Phillips v. Martin Marietta Corporation* established that Title VII of the Civil Rights Amendment required that employers give equal opportunities irrespective of sex and that policies that disadvantage *only women* (but not necessarily *all women*) were sex discrimination and violated Title VII (Thomas 2016). This was a huge foundation that allowed NOW and other feminist organizations to bring many more cases of sex discrimination to the courts.

In the initial stages of the movement, judges were reluctant to ascribe the label "sex discrimination" to behavior they saw as simply bad judgement when hitting on women. However, as the visibility and power of the movement skyrocketed, the tides soon turned. *The Wall Street Journal* published its first article about the movement against sexual harassment, and *Redbook* launched a survey on the topic (Aron 2017). The survey found that out over 90% of respondents claimed to have experienced one or more forms of harassing behavior (N > 9,000) (Thomas 2016). Women across the country sent letters of support and joined the movement in her landmark work, *Sexual Harassment of Working Women* (Thomas 2016). In this seminal work, she explains that sexual harassment oppresses not just a specific person but also occurs within a larger social and political framework in which men enjoyed unparalleled power and women were second-class citizens (Thomas 2016).

The first federal court to recognize sexual harassment as sex discrimination ruled in 1976 that it created a barrier to employment to specifically women; many others soon followed suit (Thomas 2016). In March 1980, the EEOC updated its Guidelines on Discrimination Because of Sex to specify that sexual harassment *did* violate Title VII (Thomas 2016). And finally, on June 19, 1986, the Supreme Court held in *Meritor Savings Bank, FSB v. Vinson* that, "Without question, when a supervisor harasses a subordinate because of the subordinate's sex, that supervisor 'discriminate[s]' on the basis of sex."

Why did feminists so doggedly pursue these legal developments⁴⁰ in the first place? Why did they work with the state which many prominent activists, including Catherine MacKinnon,

⁴⁰ In addition to the abovementioned achievements, throughout the 1960s and 70s a series of Supreme Court cases legalized birth control for both married and single women (Grady 2018). Also, in 1973 feminists earned another huge victory with the *Roe v. Wade* (1973) Supreme Court decision making abortion legal in all 50 states.

deemed a form of male control over women? For much of the second-wave feminist movement, legal activism was only one part of a multi-pronged approach that aimed to turn society's conceptions of gender (in binary terms) on its head. In fact, legal activists often used sex discrimination arguments intentionally to "ask decisionmakers to revisit and unsettle deeply rooted or widespread social norms and practices," (Eskridge, Hunter, and Joslin 1997). Undeniably, earning state recognition of the harms of sexual harassment and sexual violence are all incredible legal achievements. However, in these early successes, the feminist movement also became more invested in state-mediated and legal solutions to gender inequality. This sets up the scene for more dangerous allyships with the carceral arm of the state in later years.

In this chapter, I demonstrated how the second wave feminist movement, born out of the tumultuous 1960s, espoused a homogenizing and whitewashed view of "women's oppression." This exclusionary discourse was both unintentional and intentional, as seen with the exclusion of lesbian and queer feminists, poor, and Black feminists and activists of color. While the mainstream second wave movement succeeded in winning numerous sex discrimination lawsuits, the feminist movement as a whole became more invested in the state and in using its enforcement mechanisms to punish gender inequality. This early momentum – while a success in many respects – paved the road for more carceral policies and activism in the future. In the following chapter, I will demonstrate how the changing political atmosphere beginning in the

Interestingly, the opinion of the Court rested on the right to privacy, instead of sex discrimination; many legal scholars have commented that the abortion right might have been more forcefully grounded in the constitution and in society with a theory based on sex discrimination (Eskridge, Hunter, and Joslin 1997). While many new laws supporting women in the workforce caused a backlash from conservatives concerned with maintaining "traditional family values," none were so controversial as the *Roe v. Wade* decision legalizing abortion. Conservative activists such as Phyllis Schlafly sparked a nationwide right-wing movement against these changes. While the precedent set by this case still stands, the issue of abortion continues to be hotly debated today.

late 1970s caused feminist activists to ally with tough-on-crime politicians and institutions in order to continue to build on their legal successes.

III. Anti-Feminist Backlash and the Rise of the Right

"Ironically, some of the very historical and institutional factors that made the U.S. women's movement relatively more successful in gaining public acceptance and achieving its goals for women were important building blocks for the carceral state that emerged simultaneously in the 1970s." ~ Marie Gottschalk ~

In the previous chapter, I demonstrated how a specific understanding of "women's oppression" was formed: one that was based on white, middle or upper class, cisgender, and heterosexual priorities. Mainstream feminists used organizing methods, targeted political rhetoric, and pure clout to prioritize the concerns of privileged feminists and push intersectional voices to the fringes of the movement. In the context of these decisions, I will now discuss the major cultural and political shift that took place in the United States. By the 1980s, a conservative wave overtook the political atmosphere, partly in reaction to the feminist achievements of the decade before. Phyllis Schlafly's STOP-ERA campaign embodies the social and political backlash against feminist successes. Around the same time, there is a documented rise in violent crime, which prompts a massive victims' movement. In its wake, federal and state funding for criminal policy solutions to crime grew exponentially.

A New Era of Punishment Pushes Feminism Towards the Right

As the 1970s ended, political leanings in the United States swayed heavily to the right. The liberal movements of the 60s and 70s had lost momentum, and people were tired. They faced strident economic inequalities, rising crime, and fears of violence abroad as well as at home (Zinn 2015). The election of Reagan in 1980 illustrates the wave of conservatism that was sweeping the country. The women's movement was forced to adapt to new political and economic forces in order to survive in the changed political environment.

Anti-Feminism and the STOP-ERA Campaign

The Equal Rights Amendment (ERA) reads, simply, "Equality of rights under the law shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or by any State on account of sex." (Graves 2006). Despite its brevity, the amendment caused political division for decades in the United States. The ERA was first introduced to Congress in 1923, but it was not passed by the House until October 1971 and the Senate until March 1972 (Hamlin 2017). Once it passed Congress, the ratification process began in all fifty states. A three-fourths majority – thirty-eight states – was necessary for the proposed Constitutional amendment to be adopted (Hamlin 2017). The ERA was most hotly fought over during the years of state ratification, from 1972 to 1982 (Graves 2006). It initially boasted strong support, both many states and several powerful lobbying groups. From 1972 to 1977, thirty-five states ratified the amendment, leaving it just three states short (Graves 2006).

However, both despite and because of feminists' numerous achievements in the decade before, the ERA faced strong opposition from anti-feminist conservative groups. The most wellknown and influential anti-feminist was a woman herself: Phyllis Schlafly,⁴¹ the leader of the STOP (Stop Taking Our Privileges) - ERA movement and the founder of several conservative interest groups including Eagle Forum (Graves 2006; Maynard).

⁴¹ Both deeply religious and deeply conservative, Schlafly dedicated her life to preventing the adoption of the ERA - with her husband's permission, as she liked to remind her listeners (Graves 2006). She founded Eagle Forum and other non-profit 501(c)(4) organizations in the 1960s and 1970s to promote her "modern conservative ideology," (Brittain 2021).

Schlafly's campaign to STOP - ERA was the national organizing and lobbying body that would unite the Eagle Forum with other groups to form the ultimately successful anti-ERA grassroots movement (Graves 2006). She and other conservative opponents saw the adoption of the ERA as the end of 'traditional family values.' For example, they declared that the ERA was overbroad and would eliminate any government distinctions between men and women – which, they believed, were essential to giving necessary special privileges and protections to women (Thulin 2019). Included in the Eagle Forum's "10 Reasons to Oppose the Equal Rights Amendment," are arguments that the ERA poses a risk to unborn children through its promotion of abortion, that it does not give women more protections than they already have, and that it actually takes away the "special privileges" they enjoy under current law (Eagle Forum). Schlafly and other anti-ERA groups also warned about the dangers of other potential consequences, including: mandatory military service for women, all-gender bathrooms⁴², "abortion on demand," women becoming Roman Catholic priests, and same-sex marriage (Thulin 2019). The accuracy of many of these claims are disputed by legal scholars (Napikoski 2019). However, in 1982, the deadline to ratify the amendment came and went – with the ERA still just three states short of ratification (Graves 2006). Half a century later, the ERA continues to be debated in the halls of federal and state governments.⁴³

While the successful STOP-ERA campaign was thematically focused on preventing the passage of the Equal Rights Amendment, its impressive ability to galvanize a widespread

⁴² It should be noted that Eagle Forum utilizes shockingly transphobic language around this subject. It argues that the privacy and safety of women and girls are compromised by the ERA because, "Institutions serving women... would be forced to allow equal access to men who claim they identify as female" (See: Eagle Forum).
⁴³ This is in no small part due to the efforts of Schlafly and her non-profit organizations like Eagle Forum. Schlafly led the Eagle Forum⁴³ for over forty years and collected what she called a "war chest" of \$4,000,000 (Brittain 2021). The Eagle Forum website currently boasts that it has been, "Leading the pro-family movement since 1972" (Eagle Forum). A continuing conservative presence in politics, Eagle Forum makes lots of noise and generates news whenever the ERA is reintroduced in state or national legislative sessions (Napikoski 2019).

grassroots movement has many political implications. Its popular conservative views are important for understanding the ways that perspectives of feminism had changed since the heyday of the second wave. Schlafly was quoted in the New York Times as saying that feminism was "an anti-family movement that is trying to make perversion acceptable as an alternate lifestyle" (Thulin 2019). Media from the 1970s and 1980s referred to feminism as a social movement of the past and declared the 1980s to be "post-feminist" (Napikoski 2019). In 1991, the book "Backlash: The Undeclared War Against American Women" by Susan Faludi became a best-seller and was awarded the National Books Critics Circle Award (Napikoski 2019). It examined current and past counter-movements that aimed to reverse women's gains toward

equality. Thus the success of the traditional family values and STOP-ERA movements, and the increasingly conservative social and political winds, signaled to many feminists that they needed to adopt their strategy to reach a wider audience once more.

LEAA: Political Actors Mobilize in the Name of Crime Victims

Coupled with growing anti-feminist sentiment was a heavy governmental emphasis on fighting crime. Up until the 1960s, very little money was spent on law-and-order programs. This quickly changed by the 1970s, with the passage of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act and the creation of the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration (LEAA). At that moment, conservatives and liberals were divided on how to address the rising national crime rate. Right wing lawmakers argued that crime could be reduced by increasing the capacity of law enforcement to capture, convict, and punish offenders; liberals declared that the causes of crime were rooted in social structure that needed to be remedied (Gottschalk 2006). The Safe Streets Act was a compromise between the two approaches.

A part of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968, the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration (LEAA) was founded within the Justice Department (Gottschalk 2006, 85). This bill was called the "master plan for the national war on crime" (Gottschalk 2006, 85). The central mission of LEAA was to fund projects that would improve the criminal punishment system's handling of victims and witnesses (Gottschalk 2006, 85). It gave enormous chunks of money to state and local law enforcement agencies in the form of block-grants, which allowed them incredible freedom in deciding what they would spend the money on (Gottschalk 2006, 86). Not only did the LEAA allow state and local law enforcement agencies to increase their firepower, but its championing of the victims' cause was also fundamental to the creation of

a victims' movement (Gottschalk 2006, 86)

The LEAA's lasting impact vastly outlived its 12-year stint. Its major impacts on contemporary and future feminist movements were threefold (Gottschalk 2006, 125). First, it cast the issue of rights for victims as solved by tougher penalties for offenders. Second, it provided funding – with strings attached – for organizations supporting survivors of sexual violence. This pulled many feminist groups, who were already leaning toward legal solutions, into venturing into criminal law and working with the carceral state. Most importantly, it was able to "recast the feminist definition of rape as a political issue into the problem of an individual victim" needing adequate services in order to successfully win her case (Gottschalk 2006, 125).

Rape and Its Victims, a 1974 LEAA study, provided an important ideological bridge between the criminal punishment system and feminist movements (Gottschalk 2006, 125). The study did two things that pushed feminism towards a more conservative stance. First, it agreed with the main arguments of many activists in stating that the legal processes often re-victimized survivors. Second, it simultaneously criticized the methodology of the radical, independent rape crisis centers, and instead argued for a more conservative approach (Gottschalk 2006, 125). Ultimately, the LEAA facilitated the marriage between feminist anti-violence movements and the carceral state. It served as an important source of huge amounts of funding, as well as expertise and inspiration, to the slightly later anti-rape and battered women's movements. It also helped promote the powerful, bipartisan victims' rights movement. Altogether, the LEAA marked the birth of the powerful coalition of feminist anti-violence efforts and conservative, lawand-order forces that created Modern Carceral Feminism as we know it.s

The Victims' Rights Movement Normalizes Law and Order Approaches

By the early 1980s, with more media attention focusing on violent crime, there was a huge increase in interest in the plight of victims – especially white female victims. Victims' rights organizations tended to be "overwhelmingly white, female, and middle-aged—a group demographic that is hardly representative of crime victims in general" (Gottschalk 2006, 90) They were often funded through state or federal programs. They also forged close alliances with law enforcement bodies (Gottschalk 2006). For example, the National Center for Victims of Crime (NCVC) (then called the Sunny von Bulow National Crime Advocacy Center) was founded in 1985. It used huge amounts of federal funding to become a national umbrella organization that had a strong and widespread presence (Gottschalk 2006). NCVC notably cultivated close relationships with law enforcement groups, including the National District Attorney's Association, National Sheriff's Association, and the National Association of Attorneys General (Gottschalk 2006, 90).

Conservative law-and-order advocates wholeheartedly embraced this movement. With his election in 1980, President Ronald Reagan led the country's response to the issue of crime and its victims. He immediately created National Victims' Rights week, and soon after he created the President's Task Force on Victims of Crime (Gottschalk 2006, 147). Under Reagan's leadership,⁴⁴ Congress passed two pieces of legislation in 1983 and 1984 that gave victims more rights and established a fund to compensate and assist victims of crime (Gottschalk 2006, 89).⁴⁵ This funding became an important source of money for grassroots victims' programs. At the same time, states were enacting their own reforms surrounding victims of crime. By the end of Reagan's term, legislatures in almost every state had passed a version of a victims' rights statute (Gottschalk 2006, 89).

Presidents George H. W. Bush (R) and Bill Clinton (D) continued this bipartisan crackdown on crime and support of crime victims. Under President Bush, the 1990 Victims Rights and Restitution Act further expanded victims' rights. Four years later, President Clinton signed into law the 1994 enormous Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act, which among many other things, expanded victims' rights once more and funneled more federal money into local victim services (Gottschalk 2006; Sacco 2009). While these new programs and declarations of rights arguably did help certain victims, they were also instrumental in fomenting a political climate fascinated with victimization and pushing it toward a more punitive direction.

Overall, the victims' rights movement set the stage for the later anti-rape and battered women's movements in many ways. First, it utilized a non-representative group of activists to fight in the name of a larger, more diverse population. Second, it was primarily funded by federal and state government agencies, and so it acquiesced in many ways to influence by the carceral state. Finally, it formed key relationships with powerful actors in the criminal punishment system, opting to reform rather than upend the system that victimized so many. As I will show in the next chapter, the later anti-rape movements and battered women's movements did not

⁴⁴ At this time (97th and 98th United States Congress), the Republicans had control of the Senate while the Democrats held the House of Representatives.

⁴⁵ The Victims Witness Protection Act of 1982 and the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) of 1984.

attempt to divorce themselves from their "victim" status that lent itself to solutions that had worked before. The anti-rape movement – while originating from radical and anti-state feminist traditions – as well as the battered women's movement both ultimately followed a similar trajectory.

In this chapter, I described how increasingly carceral views about crime, punishment, and victimization created a powerful political atmosphere. The STOP-ERA campaign was one example of the potent conservative backlash that stymied mainstream feminist legislation efforts. Further, starting in the 1980s, Republican and Democratic coalitions incentivized activists, advocates, and public officials to turn to policing and incarceration. The financial power wielded by the LEAA, and the success of the Victim's Rights movement, provided in-roads for the later anti-rape and anti-domestic violence movements to gain traction in the larger United States. In the next chapter, I will demonstrate how both the anti-rape movement and the battered women's movement were shaped by this changed political climate and were able adopt carceral strategies to succeed within it.

IV. New Feminist Movements Against Sexual Violence

During the resurgence of the right, two new feminist anti-violence movements took off in U.S. politics and culture: the anti-rape movement and the battered women's movement. In the context of the political developments laid out in previous chapters, grassroots activists fighting sexual violence embraced carceral feminism and worked in increasingly intimate ways with the criminal punishment system in their campaigns against rape and domestic violence.

The Anti-Rape Movement

The first feminists to decry rape and sexual assault hailed from the most radical, militant segments of the women's movement. However, in the 1980s and 19990s rape and sexual assault quickly became a prominent issue adopted by mainstream actors like NOW.

In January 1971, the New York Radical Feminists held a "Speak-Out on Rape" — this was the first time women had gathered publicly to disclose that they had been sexually assaulted (Zinn 2015). Three months later they followed that up with a full day of workshops about rape. The backbone of this original anti-rape movement was grassroots, community-led rape crisis centers. Located in many major cities, they stressed self-help without relying on government funding, support, and/or cooperation (Gottschalk 2006).

Even while the movement consisted primarily of grassroots organizations, it showed tendencies toward collaboration with the criminal punishment system. For example, one local group active in the Midwest, Women's Crusade Against Crime, declared that its main goal was "to support, assist, and augment the criminal punishment system in doing its job" (Gottschalk 2006, 125). This group argued that it was counterproductive to denounce police, prosecutor, and hospital practices, which it believed could discourage survivors to report sexual assaults to the authorities (Gottschalk 2006, 125). In their effort to bolster the criminal punishment system, members of the Women's Crusade Against Crime ended up doing things like campaigning for bond issues to purchase new equipment for police.

Initially, NOW was hesitant to bring the issue of rape to the national political agenda. However, after pressure from leftist groups including WAR (Women Against Rape), it voted at its 1973 annual meeting to establish the National Task Force on Rape (Gottschalk 2006, 124). State and local groups quickly followed suit. In 1974 the Feminist Alliance Against Rape Two vital examples of the anti-rape movement's gradual philosophical alignment with the criminal punishment system are the bureaucratization of rape crisis centers and the expansion of rape law reform. Rape crisis centers, while initially cornerstones of anti-racist, anti-colonialist, and anti-state mutual aid-type feminism, became eventually co-opted by the state via the LEAA and other sources of funding (Gottschalk 2006). Additionally, a wave of rape law reform, passed as a response to feminist anti-rape activism, swept the country, making it easier to convict and punish more harshly men accused of sexual assault.

Rape Crisis Centers and the Carceral State

Independent rape crisis centers – the backbone of the anti-rape movement – often began with anti-carceral intentions but found themselves coopted by the state as the movement went on. The LEAA's Crime Victim Initiative was an important first mechanism to co-opt the women's movement and enlist it in the war against crime and against the criminal (Gottschalk 2006). It vastly increased opportunities for public funding of rape crisis groups. In essence, through the Crime Victim Initiative the government threw money at rape crisis centers that challenged their power. By accepting LEAA money and working within other public financing programs, many of the independent (more radical) rape crisis centers and services became absorbed into status-quo government operations.⁴⁶ The LEAA, in essence, controlled the purse strings of rape crisis centers and put pressure on these bodies to behave more like apolitical social service agencies. It even terminated agencies that it deemed hostile to this approach (Gottschalk 2006, 127). Motivated by both necessity and convenience, local feminist organizations that once challenged

⁴⁶ The anti-rape movement in California is a perfect case study. Californian rape crisis centers flourished with the dramatic increase of state funding, but at the expense of increased state regulation. See: Gottschalk 2006, 127.

the power of the carceral state began to work alongside the criminal punishment system. This shift happened both practically and ideologically, in three ways.

First, once-radical volunteer grassroots operations made practical and procedural changes that lent themselves towards working with the state and emphasizing carceral solutions. Financial pressures caused many organizations to adapt more professional, hierarchical, bureaucratic structures to qualify for funding (Gottschalk 2006). To qualify for grants, many centers embraced the "justice for crime victims" goals of state agencies like social service, mental health, and law enforcement agencies (Gottschalk 2006, 128).

Second, state and federal entities were frequently able to prescriptively shape anti-rape organizations and crisis centers. They did this by extending funding with strings attached. For example, many state funding sources came with the requirement to work with the criminal justice system (Gottschalk 2006). In some cases, once-radical rape crisis centers were staffed with employees of the criminal punishment system (Gottschalk 2006, 126).⁴⁷

Third, this allyship created an ideological template to view rape through the criminal justice lens instead of a political one (of systemic unequal power relations). Based on her study of six rape crisis centers in Los Angeles, CA, Nancy Matthews found that the ideological power of the carceral state was overwhelming. She writes, "the feminist political agenda of relating violence against women to women's oppression was marginalized, ridiculed, and suppressed by various means" (Matthews 2005; Gottschalk 2006, 128).

⁴⁷ One particularly salient example of this is the rape crisis center located in Baton Rouge, Louisiana. The LEAA praised it in its publications for increasing reporting and conviction rates. However, what was left unsaid was that the DA *had refused services to survivors* who elected not to file reports with the police. In 1976, the center's entire administrative team resigned in protest. The resultant job openings were filled with employees of the criminal punishment system *See:* Gottschalk 2006, 126.

The LEAA was a key player in this ideological shift as well. Throughout its lifespan, it sponsored several influential studies of the special problems women faced in the criminal punishment system as offenders, victims, and law enforcement employees (Gottschalk 2006). The findings of these studies, not surprisingly, took the stance that the solutions to female oppression within the criminal punishment system was simply through reform of the system. Deeper critiques of the flawed and racist criminal punishment system were notably missing. Also, wielding huge sums of money from LEAA block grants, states were able to financially reward organizations with pro-state ideologies (Gottschalk 2006, 127). State granting agencies preferred to fund "politically-neutral" organizations that provided services for victims. They did not usually fund politically active organizations that challenged the well-established roles of police, prosecutors, judges, and the criminal punishment system in handing rape and sexual assault cases (Gottschalk 2006, 127).

With the face of the movement transformed to primarily service-centered, carceral stateallied activism, the anti-rape agenda became closely associated with law-and-order issues (Gottschalk 2006). It was able to piggyback off the wave of conservatism and the bipartisan crackdown on crime and gain huge traction in society. Overall, rape crisis centers nationwide mimicked key tactics from the victims' movement in order to secure funding and legislation from state officials. They placed greater emphasis on women as apolitical victims in need of state aid, and supported putting the issue of violence against women into the criminal justice domain. *Rape Law Reform*

"Bold, Dramatic, and Sustaining": These three words were used by an observer to describe the nationwide legislative achievements in rape law reform that occurred in the 1970s and 1980s (Gottschalk 2006, 130). In just six years (1976-1980), nearly every state had reviewed

and edited its sexual assault laws.⁴⁸ These new laws contained clauses that, among other things, redefined the offense of rape and limited admissibility of evidence concerning the character and sexual assault history of the survivor (Gottschalk 2006). The effect of these new laws was that nearly every state made it easier to convict and punish men accused of sexual assault. This legislation had dramatic effects, but it disparately devastated communities of color and low-income communities who were already being victimized by the criminal punishment system. For example, in the cases where the death penalty was imposed as punishment for rape, it was administered overwhelmingly in the specific cases of Black men convicted of raping white women (Gottschalk 2006, 131).

With both rape crisis centers and new rape legislation emphasizing reformist and, ultimately, pro-carceral stances, the main thrust of the anti-rape movement became complicit in the violence and oppression of the criminal punishment system. There *were* some initial concerns with being too closely associated with the growing conservative movement. In fact, in its initial stages LEAA funding was so controversial that many organizations refused to apply for it (Gottschalk 2006, 126). However, even those groups that refused the funding could not escape unscathed. Caught between a rock and a hard place, they were forced to adapt and respond to the quickly shifting political environment. Often, they either fell behind or lost much of their revolutionary roots. While the more radical, feminist organizations split on how to deal with funding needs and how to respond to state and federal influences, the mainstream movement charged forward, flush with cash and bipartisan political support on local, state, and federal levels. Overall, the anti-rape movement became closely allied with the criminal punishment system. This was one of the first – but not the last – overt manifestations of Modern Carceral

⁴⁸ This wave of state reform began with Michigan's comprehensive rape reform legislation, passed in 1976. See: Gottschalk 2006, 117.

Feminism in feminist anti-violence movements. Following on the heels of the anti-rape movement, feminist activism against domestic violence (the battered women's movement) continued to strengthen the relationship between feminists and the carceral state.

The Battered Women's Movement

The battered women's movement traced its origins partly from the victim's movement and partly from the feminist movement. Because of this, from the beginning activists within the movement were divided over whether their primary purpose was to provide services or to further gender equality, or both (Gottschalk 2006, 139). This made it even more vulnerable to influence from the carceral state. Even though it was not explicitly tied to feminist movements of the time, its campaign against gender violence (namely, domestic violence) provides another example of the ways in which feminist activists and organizations collaborated with and bolstered the criminal punishment system.

The battered women's movement overlapped chronologically with the latter parts of the anti-rape movement. It grew in influence in the late 1970s and beyond. The first major effort to address this issue by a national government body occurred in 1978, when the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights sponsored hearings on battered women (Gottschalk 2006, 123). Because of the jurisdictional basis of the U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, the hearings focused heavily on civil rights law and law enforcement. In fact, witnesses were encouraged to focus on the role of law enforcement in their testimony (Gottschalk 2006, 123). Strangely, but perhaps not surprisingly, the focus on law and law enforcement as primary perpetrators of harm did not accompany calls to abolish or end the carceral system as a whole. Instead, activists and government officials focused on ways to *reform* the criminal punishment system. This foreshadowed the trajectory of the rest of the movement.

Like the anti-rape movement, the backbone of the battered women's movement consisted of both organizations pushing for legal reform and domestic violence centers or shelters that supported women and provided resources, housing, and other services (Tierney 1982, 207-220). However, unlike the anti-rape movement, it did not originate from radical feminist tradition that recognized the ways that the criminal punishment system systemically oppressed lower class, queer, and BIPOC populations. For example, one national survey in June 1980 found that less than half of the 175 sheltered reviewed had feminist orientation or origins (Gottschalk 2006, 140). In addition, many shelters, hotlines, and related services for battered women preferred to use paid staff (due to the constant demands of their services) (Tierney 1982, 207-220). This also made them more costly to run.

The heavy financial influence of state granting agencies helped to push the character of shelters, and thus the battered women's movement as a whole, towards a punitive reformist perspective. Domestic violence shelters and other organizations faced huge pressures to secure state funding because of the increased costs of providing services, and because the U.S. welfare state was so underdeveloped (Gottschalk 2006). Two major sources of funding were the LEAA and the Comprehensive Employment Training Act (CETA) (Tierney 1982, 207-220; Gottschalk 2006). Both LEAA and CETA money came with significant strings attached. In example, the LEAA required, as a condition of their funding, that projects both improved the functioning of the criminal punishment system, and involved community criminal justice organizations and social service and medical agencies in their work (Gottschalk 2006, 146). In other words, its criteria required shelters to work directly with the police and other actors of the criminal punishment system (Gottschalk 2006, 146). LEAA funding also mandated that shelters diversify their boards of directors to incorporate members of the local criminal punishment system (such

as police officers, court officials, probation officers, DAs, and employees at local jails and prisons). One such organization, the Center for Women's Policy Studies (CWPS), received one

of the largest sums of money from the LEAA, amounting to approximately 1 million dollars between 1977 and 1980) (Gottschalk 2006, 146; Tierney 1982, 207-220). A Washington D.C.based group founded in 1972, it used its LEAA funding to establish itself as a leading national voice on violence against women (Gottschalk 2006, 146).

This allyship and commitment to criminal punishment reform was not celebrated by all feminists or activists within the battered women's movement. Some feminists were dismayed at the clout wielded by the CWPS (Gottschalk 2006, 146). They called out the Center and the battered women's movement in general for aligning completely with the criminal punishment system in pursuit of their interests. They argued that the movement minimized the differences and divides between groups mobilized around the issue of gender violence. And finally, they claimed that the steps taken by the CWPS and domestic violence orgs undermined the achievements of grassroots domestic violence shelters and radical feminist rape crisis centers (Gottschalk 2006, 146). However, the voices of these critics were far outnumbered by the financial power and the vast networks, organizations, and institutions that espoused carceral ideals and worked closely with the carceral state.

In this conservative political atmosphere and a rise in violent crime, the anti-rape and battered women's movements took root and became powerful social and political forces. The anti-rape movement began as a radical, grassroots offshoot of the feminist movement, but became tempered by mainstream interests and political and financial pressures that successfully altered both practical and ideological aspects of their activism. The battered women's movement, which harkened back toward the victims' rights movement of the previous years, was already less critical of the criminal punishment system and quickly followed suit. Together, the alliances between feminist movements and the criminal punishment system helped institutionalize policies and practices of mass incarceration in the name of fighting sexual violence. Activism and law around sexual violence has never been the same. In the next chapter, I will show how, following the tradition set by the anti-rape and battered women's movements, federal and institutional activism against sexual assault on college campuses adopted carceral and punitive measures.

V. 21st Century Anti-Rape Activism on College Campuses

Several decades after the anti-rape movement and battered women's movement had faded from the public eye, the issue of sexual violence erupted once more. In response to the so-called "campus rape epidemic" of the 2010s, federal and institutional activism fell back on "tried and true" carceral strategies and applied them to the educational context. To reiterate, carceral feminism is the strategy of achieving feminist goals through reliance on and/or collaborating with the oppressive state apparatus, and specifically, its criminal punishment system.

Building off the legacy of decades of traditional feminist action against sexual violence, 21st-century governmental action against sexual violence has largely focused on reforming the educational system in carceral ways. Even in a strictly educational setting, the frameworks created by policies and laws Title IX and the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) on college campuses represented an extension of, rather than a differentiated apparatus than, the criminal punishment system. When looking at the ways in which carceral feminism has developed in feminist rhetoric, it is essential to analyze the ways in which this evolution has also been reflected in federal Title IX and VAWA legislation through the years.

Entire books can be written about this topic. In this section, I aim to discuss specifically the ways that major federal laws are grounded in carceral feminist logics. I then discuss the

"campus rape epidemic" and how it led to a focus on female victimhood and punishment-based responses (similar to the aforementioned victim's and anti-violence movements). I then describe the federal and institutional policy actions that focus on increasing accountability via punishment of individual offenders without an emphasis on challenging campus structures and culture. Finally, I briefly cover how this carceral feminist approach is harmful specifically in collegiate settings. I discuss briefly how it relies on punitive definitions of accountability and fosters a punitive atmosphere, it is more accessible to survivors with privilege, it can reduce survivor agency, and finally it relies on and promotes inaccurate stereotypes about sexual harm.

The Carceral Feminist Foundations of Title IX

Title IX is a federal law that aims to address male sexual violence by primarily regulating colleges and universities' response procedures regarding the sexual assault and harassment of students. Title IX is a part of the Education Amendments of the Civil Rights Act of 1972 (Melnick 2018). Its constitutional basis is the "because of sex" clause of the 14th Amendment (United States Courts). Specifically, the Title IX states that "No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving federal financial assistance." (United States Courts). Title IX has undergone a substantial transformation in the decades since its conception, mostly through Title IX lawsuits, civil court cases, and periodic Title IX guidance released by the U.S. Department of Education (Melnick 2018).

The original intent of Title IX was to ensure equal opportunity for men and women in athletics and educational programs, in both secondary and post-secondary schools. It guaranteed federal funding of colleges and universities who complied with Title IX requirements and threatened to rescind funding to those who did not. As the years progressed, Title IX was reinterpreted. As a result, its original intent – to eliminate discrimination "because of sex" in educational settings – expanded to including all forms of sexual harassment and assault (Melnick 2018). Through cases like *Cohen v. Brown University* (1996) and new Title IX guidance released by the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR) in recent years, this law has expanded to include protection against discrimination and harassment based on sexual orientation and gender. It has also created a framework for processing and prosecuting reports of harassment, or discrimination, or sexual violence (Melnick 2018). Title IX has only been recognized as potentially applying to sexual violence since 1992 and to sexual harassment since 1999 (Collins 2015). The OCR currently holds universities and colleges responsible under Title IX for fulfilling three distinct duties regarding sexual violence: responding to individual acts of sexual violence, working to prevent future sexual violence, and remedying the harm of acts of violence on survivors and the broader student community (Collins 2015).

While Title IX is a civil law, it rests firmly on carceral feminist logics because it establishes a process like the criminal punishment system, and it relies on punishment-based responses to incidents of harm (Melnick 2018). The actions of institutions of higher education lean toward more punitive responses because of their desire to minimize and manage potential financial risk.⁴⁹ According to Collins in their article "The Criminalization of Title IX," "current Title IX practices are coming to resemble an extension of, rather than a diversion from, the criminal justice framework. Under the guidance of Congress and the Office for Civil Rights and the influence of activists, media outlets, and risk management consultants, many universities

⁴⁹ At its core, Title IX aims to make universities and colleges behave better – and not necessarily their students. As a result, it is important to note that much of the actions of institutions of higher education are governed by a desire to minimize and manage potential risk. Colleges face huge financial liability for failing to respond to, prevent, and remedy instances of sexual assault and harassment; thus, their policies are inevitably shaped by the desire to make sure they are not held responsible for shirking their duties (Collins 2015). In other words, they often err on the side of punishing too harshly and to quickly when allegations arise. See: Collins 2015.

have embraced the notion that the primary way to demonstrate that they take sexual assault seriously is to punish individuals accused of such offenses harshly and swiftly" (Collins 2015). Similar to the carceral feminist approaches of the previous anti-violence movements, Title IX policies are based on the idea that sexual harassment and assault can be solved by meeting out punishment on a per case basis. As I discussed in the first chapter of my thesis, this carceral feminist approach is inadequate to addressing the material, structural, and cultural roots of sexual harm.

The Carceral Feminist Foundations of VAWA

The Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) identifies specific educational requirements for consent training on college campuses. Like Title IX, it has also changed through amendment, re-interpretation, and reauthorization through the years. Since its passage in 1992, VAWA has been reauthorized 3 times: in 2000, 2005, and finally in 2013 (Sacco 2009, 168-185). In 2019, the House of Representatives (116th Congress) passed the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2019 (H.R. 1585) – it has yet to be passed by the Senate (Sacco 2009, 168-185).

Founded in a criminal justice context,⁵⁰ VAWA leads the way in addressing sexual violence with criminal punishment mechanisms. The Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) was sponsored by then-Senator Biden and signed into law by President Bill Clinton (Jessup-Anger, Lopez, and Koss 2018). It was enacted as a part of the 1992 Crime Bill (Whittier 2016, 791-818) that dumped funds into policing and incarceration systems. The passage of the 1992 Crime Bill was a part of the bipartisan embrace of hardline law-and-order approaches which

⁵⁰ VAWA was passed into law just five years after the Central Park jogger case resulted in the conviction of five Black children to prison for a violent rape crime they did not commit. It was evidently influenced by the racist and pervasive fear of Black 'superpredators' preying on innocent white women. Thus, the name "Violence Against Women" implicitly referred to violence against *white women*.

attempted to address the recent increase in violent crime. In actuality, these law-and-order approaches targeted Black communities and other communities of color, and contributed heavily to the mass incarceration of Black and brown individuals in our prison systems. As a part of the biggest crime bill ever created, VAWA exemplified the criminal law-based attitude towards male sexual violence. Alone, it allocated \$30 billion to, among other things, establishing longer minimum sentences for rape and sexual assault and hiring 100,000 new police officers nationwide (Whittier 2016, 791-818).

VAWA is the epitome of carceral feminism. It established a powerful precedent of treating sexual assault in a criminal context, even though it intersects with many other contexts (such as educational, social, cultural, economic, and public health contexts). It adopts a criminal justice approach to fighting sexual violence, uniting feminist activism and the carceral state to put sexual perpetrators in jail instead of adopting a more systemic and societal approach to the issue.

Title IX and VAWA are two of the most prominent, wide-reaching, and well-known laws that address sexual violence on college campuses nationwide. However, they are not the only ones. Other laws and federal actions of note that function alongside Title IX and VAWA regulations include the Clery Act of 1990,⁵¹ the Office of Civil Rights' Dear Colleague Letters issuing new Title IX guidance, and the 2013 Campus Sexual Violence Act (SaVE Act)⁵² (Jessup-Anger, Lopez, and Koss 2018). This web of federal laws and policies creates a punitive structure

⁵¹ The Clery Act mandates that all colleges and universities that receive federal aid report annual crime statistics and campus security information. See: Hanley Duncan 2014.

⁵² The 2013 Campus SaVe Act expanded Clery reporting requirements, updated hate crime categories, and addressed required prevention and response information for students. It is criticized for having shaped a quasicriminal punishment system on campus because of its focus on crime-based definitions and increasing informationsharing between local justice jurisdictions and campus adjudicators. This could potentially response options available to student conduct administrators, even when alternative resolution is desired by complainants. See: Jessup-Anger, Lopez, and Koss 2018.

for governing sexual relations on college campuses.⁵³ In response to the recent "campus rape epidemic," these already carceral-leaning policies were bolstered to an unprecedented extent. The "Campus Rape Epidemic"

In the early 2010s, the issue of sexual assault and harassment on college campuses blasted its way onto the front pages of mainstream media and news. While it seemed revolutionary at the time, the campus rape epidemic echoed dynamics of previous calls to fight against rape. Namely, it echoed the focus on female victimhood and called for punishment-based responses in the name of these victims.

While feminists have been raising awareness of the issue of sexual assault on college campuses since the beginning of the second wave of feminism,⁵⁴ it was not until the late 1990s that concern about sexual assault in institutions of higher education made its way into federal legal reform. In 1997 the OCR issued a guidance document, called a "Dear Colleague" letter, that stated explicitly that Title IX also covered the sexual harassment of students under its calling to end sex discrimination (Zimmerman 2016). It also required that postsecondary institutions create grievance procedures through which these schools can address reports of sexual discrimination including sexual harassment (United States Department of Justice 2012). These new standards were reiterated in 2001 (United States Department of Justice 2012). This was a

⁵³ When evaluating the recent "campus rape epidemic" within the context of contemporary feminist anti-rape activism in general, it is important to note the unique position of educational institutions. When a Title IX report is made, colleges have a dual responsibility to the person accused as well as the survivor. In addition, under Title IX colleges have a parallel responsibility (outside of the purview of law enforcement, theoretically) to prevent, investigate, and punish sexual assault and harassment in the context of their institution (Collins 2015). This is because incidents of sexual assault and harassment are a sex discrimination issue according to the most recent Title IX interpretation (United States Department of Justice 2012). Schools usually do not have to send survivors of sexual assault to the police, and even when they do (in the case of potential felonies) they are still able to pursue a parallel investigation and course of action.

⁵⁴ In 1985, one infamous survey found that one in four female college students had an experience that met the legal definition of rape or attempted rape (Zimmerman 2016). A book entitled "I Never Called It Rape" by Robin Warshaw was published nine years later, based on the results of the survey. It made a huge impact on the way in which the public saw sexual assault and rape as an issue on college and university campuses.

pivotal moment, as the later cases concerning Title IX and sexual assault rested on the college's presumed responsibility to fulfill their Title IX duties.

In 2007 the Justice Department released a study detailing the prevalence of sexual assault on college campuses. This study found that one in five women would be sexually assaulted or raped during their years at college (Rich and others 2010, 268-288). The issue of sexual violence at institutions of higher education only got more public and more polemical as the years went by. News stories focused on high profile cases which showcased male chauvinism and female victimhood. In May 2011, the national CBS News Magazine "60 Minutes" program covered the story of a survivor who had been raped in May 2008 by three men at the University of the Pacific in Stockton, California (Zimmerman 2016). That same year, Yale University publicly suspended the Delta Kappa Epsilon fraternity for five years (Zimmerman 2016). The fraternity had made pledges walk through campus the year before and chant "no means yes, yes means anal," and also had a member carry a sign that said, "We love Yale sluts" (Zimmerman 2016).

In 2012, the University of Montana in Missoula came on the country's radar seemingly overnight when it was announced that at least 80 rapes had been reported within the past three years. It quickly became known as "America's Rape Capital" – despite it being average in terms of the numbers of sexual assaults (Gray 2014). Two years later, in April 2014, twenty three Columbia University students filed complaints with the federal government charging that the University had mistreated them and systematically mishandled their sexual assault claims (Zimmerman 2016). The next year, Columbia Emma Sulkowicz graduated and walked the stage – with a mattress in tow (Fieldstadt 2015). She had garnered national and international attention for her senior thesis, a work of performance art called "Carry That Weight." As a part of her thesis, she committed to carrying the mattress around – wherever she went – in protest of the

school's inaction after she reported being raped at the beginning of her sophomore year (Fieldstadt 2015).

More high-profile campus sexual assault and rape cases followed. In 2015, two Vanderbilt University football players were convicted of raping an unconscious woman (Zimmerman 2016). During a retrial, one of the players, Corey Batey, was found guilty again and sentenced to fifteen years in prison (Zimmerman 2016; Shapiro 2016). Also, in 2015, the documentary phenomenon T*he Hunting Ground* was released, which documented the situation of rape on college campuses in the United States, as well as student feminist activism in response. Other famous cases during 2015 include that of Erica Kinsman – a former Florida State student who sued her alma mater for clearing her perpetrator – and that of football player Sam Ukwuachu – who was sentenced to jail for the second-degree sexual assault of a student two years earlier (Zimmerman 2016).

In 2016 the football coach and president of Baylor University were both fired after investigations revealed that the university discouraged survivors from filing reports and did not address clear patterns of sexual violence by football players (Zimmerman 2016). Also in 2016, former Stanford University student Brock Turner was convicted of committing sexual assault (Shapiro 2016). Chanel Miller, the survivor of the case and who had been anonymous at the time, wrote a gut-wrenching victim impact statement that was emotionally read in Congress, recited over TV stations, and published by news outlets across the country (Ha 2019).⁵⁵ The media's focus on her story, while gut-wrenching and powerful, also served as fuel to calls for harsher penalties for Brock Turner and others found guilty of similar charges on campuses.

⁵⁵ Chanel Miller has now published a book, called *Know My Name: A Memoir*.

All in all, the "campus rape epidemic" consisted of dozens of high-profile cases of sexual assault that rocked national and local media. Coverage of these instances nearly always focused on punishing the perpetrator of harm through school expulsion, designation of sex offender status, criminal trials, and convictions. Thus, the revelations of the "campus rape epidemic" reflected carceral mindsets and biases that then played out in the ways institutions responded..

A National Legal Response

The cascade of high-profile cases of rape on college and university campuses provoked a sustained reaction by both student activists and the federal government alike *that centered on* punishment as accountability. Know Your IX, a nonprofit founded in 2013 by two survivors of campus sexual assault, was created to contribute to the growing student movement to end gender violence in schools (Know Your IX). It successfully lobbied the U.S. Department of Education to increase their transparency and enforcement of civil rights law. As a result, in 2014 the OCR published – for the first time in U.S. history – a list of 55 colleges and universities that were currently under investigation for sexual violence-related Title IX violations (Steinhauer and Joachim 2014). This list of colleges and universities included large public universities, including Ohio State, as well as many prestigious schools such as Harvard, Princeton, and the University of Pennsylvania (Gray 2014). Most of these schools were on the list for not responding harshly enough to reports of sexual misconduct. Within a year, this number tripled to over 150 institutions of higher education (Gray 2014). By releasing the names of schools under review, the Obama administration signaled to the country that schools needed to improve or take a huge hit to their reputation.

As the public reeled with more revelations of instances of sexual assault or rape occurring on college campuses with little to no response, the government took several noteworthy steps. In

Gen 63

2014, the Obama White House announced the launch of its new initiative to fight sexual assault on college campuses. This campaign, called "It's On Us," called on individuals to commit personally to step up and take action against campus sexual assault (The White House). In his address to announce the launch of the program, President Obama called the prevalence of sexual assault on college campuses "an affront to our basic humanity" (The White House). As a part of this new initiative the Obama administration committed to sending guidance to every educational institution receiving federal funding on how to fulfill their legal obligations to prevent and respond to sexual assault, creating the White House task force to protect students from sexual assault, and reviewing existing laws to make sure that they protect survivors of sexual assault (The White House).

The White House campaign centered on two actions: encouraging bystanders to step up and prevent instances of sexual harm and improving the legal response to help survivors of sexual assault and punish those found guilty. Both actions stunk of carceral feminist logic. Focusing on bystanders as the main way to prevent sexual harm puts the onus on individuals and friends to prevent sexual assault. In other words, it promotes an individualistic approach to responding to sexual harm (which is harmful for the reasons I mentioned earlier) as well as to preventing sexual harm (which ignores cultural, societal, and material factors that contribute to the issue). Second, the campaign re-evaluated Title IX regulations and related policies to, essentially, streamline the process to hold students "accountable" for their actions via punishment. This is exemplified by the 2014 Obama White House report that instructed schools on how to best partner with community and local law enforcement in responding to sexual violence (The White House). Aiding in this process are recent "Dear Colleague" letters. "Dear Colleague" letters are amendments to interpretation of Title IX policy issued periodically by the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR). Over a decade after the landmark "Dear Colleague" letter that established Title IX as covering sexual harassment, in 2011 the OCR released another "Dear Colleague" letter that clarified explicitly that Title IX requirements also address sexual violence, not just sexual harassment (Young 2017, A27). This letter also warned that schools that failed to adequately address sexual assault risked losing federal funding. Another new rule dictated by this letter was the replacement of the higher "clear and convincing evidence" standard for conviction with the much lower "preponderance of the evidence" standard (Young 2017, A27). These developments reflected the adoption of carceral feminist thinking by federal institutions.⁵⁶

The 2013 Dear Colleague Letter from the OCR, which, "specifies that disciplinary hearings must afford the alleged perpetrator with "due process," but, in unusual language, cautions that these due process rights should not "restrict or unnecessarily delay the Title IX protections for the complainant." (Collins 2015). These policy clarifications continued to bring Title IX processes closer to mimicking criminal investigations – but without the same protections of due process that the criminal punishment system affords. Altogether, recent federal policy guidelines demonstrate the carceral mindset that increased punishment equates to accountability.

While many colleges and universities are piloting new programs about bystander awareness and consent, most activism in response to the "campus rape epidemic" is punitive in nature. Many victims and advocates supported these policies and called for tougher penalties for offenders. According to Dana Bulger, co-founder of Know Your IX, "when someone who rapes

⁵⁶ Interestingly, but perhaps not surprisingly, in 2017 under the Trump administration the OCR reversed course and issued a new "Dear Colleague" letter that rescinded the 2011 guidance and made changes in Title IX policy that generally made it more difficult to convict offenders.

is suspended for a day, it sends the message to the school community that sexual violence in relationship violence just isn't that big of a deal," (Gray 2014). Altogether, the enthusiastic embrace of carceral feminist logics by activists and institutions alike reflect the extent that carceral feminism has become embedded in feminist anti-violence activism since the 1960s. As I will show in the following section, carceral feminist responses are harmful, especially in campus settings, for many ways.

Unpacking the Dangers of Carceral Feminism Within an Educational Context

In the above sections, I have demonstrated how Title IX and VAWA are based in carceral rhetoric, and how the media firestorm of the "campus rape epidemic" led to institutional responses focusing on legal changes, punishment of offenders, and enforcement of new rules. In this section, I will unpack this carceral response. I argue that carceral feminist responses are dangerous within educational contexts because they continue to cater primarily to white and well-off survivors, they reduce the agency of survivors (and disproportionately affects survivors belonging to marginalized communities), and finally they promote a punitive atmosphere.

First, for reasons already discussed, punishment-based responses to sexual harm inherently prioritize the stories and needs of white, well-off, cisgender women. Notably absent from the headlines of the incidents creating the "campus rape epidemic" are the voices and names of Black and Indigenous women and other women and genderqueer people of color. As I have discussed, relying on institutional intervention is not equally accessible for all communities. People who are already marginalized by carceral systems are likely to trust the government and institutional bodies less, and therefore are less likely to feel comfortable utilizing these systems of accountability. Second, these punitive responses unintentionally constrain survivor agency. Many survivors do not want to punish the people who harmed them. In these cases, there are not many available options for them within Title IX policy frameworks. Compared to alternative systems of accountability on campuses, Title IX support systems and resources are unmatched in their universality, institutional support, and their access to funding. In contrast, transformative justice and community-accountability approaches to sexual assault on college campuses are few and farbetween – and they often don't have the institutional backing or the support that the Title IX office wields. In addition, Title IX-required mandated reporting *forces* professors, staff, and students to become a part of the carceral system. This limits agency of survivors and reinforces patterns of cooperation between the feminist anti-violence efforts and the carceral system.

Third, the practices mandated by the national government promote a punitive environment that is not constructive to engaging in nuanced and complex conversations about sexual harm. This is especially problematic because the populations of students on college campuses are at *increased risk of harming someone else and/or experiencing sexual harm*. According to RAINN, 26% of undergraduate females and 7% of undergraduate males experience rape or sexual assault through physical force, violence, or incapacitation (RAINN). The staggering rates of sexual violence on college campuses are especially alarming given the punitive atmosphere created by carceral feminist policies like Title IX and VAWA. The criminal-like system of accountability discourages open and honest discussions about sexual harm. This is a very alarming prospect, considering college students are such an at-risk population.

In this chapter, I described how recent institutional action against sexual harassment and assault on college campuses made the same mistakes as their anti-violence activist predecessors.

Building off powerful laws like Title IX and VAWA, policymakers and other institutional actors embraced punitive approaches, policing, and criminal punishment-adjacent responses to sexual violence.

Taking all this history into consideration, I look towards the future to envision anticarceral possibilities of feminist action against sexual violence. The paths that feminist movements have taken are, thus far, mainly carceral; however that is not to say that anti-carceral feminism is an entirely new thing. Black, queer, and poor feminists as well as feminists of color have been mobilizing for the liberation of *all* women and gender-diverse individuals for decades. In my last chapter, I take the lead from these activists, and highlight organizations that have been doing the work, all along, that needs to be done for an anti-carceral future.

VI. Envisioning an Anti-Carceral Feminist Future

"If Black women were free, it would mean that everyone else would have to be free since our freedom would necessitate the destruction of all the systems of oppression."

- Combahee River Collective

bell hooks, in her book feminist theory: from margin to center, defines oppression as the

"absence of choices" (hooks 2015). The oppression experienced by poor, BIPOC, and LGBTQIA2-S women and gender-diverse individuals is multifaceted in that their choices are restricted by society for multiple reasons, be it their class, gender, sexuality, or more. When viewing traditional feminist theory through this framework, we see that it centers *gender* as the only or overwhelming determinant of life choices for women. This narrow scope inherently brings the unidimensional oppression experienced by white women of class privilege into focus, while pushing the complicated, multilayered, and inseparable oppressions experienced by poor, Black, Indigenous, and non-white women and gender-diverse individuals out-of-focus. As I have discussed previously in this paper, this approach serves to further oppress these already marginalized peoples and contribute to the material and social inequalities that maintain our rape society.

The feminist movements as a collective must accept responsibility for the harmful consequences of past movements and must re-evaluate long-held traditions of political activism to continue to push the boundaries of patriarchal oppression. I believe that in order to move forward in a meaningful way, contemporary feminist spaces must center the voices and experiences of those who are oppressed in multiple and complex ways, who have previously been pushed to the margins of the movement: namely women and individuals of color (especially Black and Indigenous women), poor women and individuals, and LGBTQIA2-S individuals (especially trans and gender-nonconforming folks). In spite of being relegated to the fringes of the "mainstream" feminist movements, these communities have not been still. They have been forming incredible grassroots, community, state, and national organizations, and performing impactful work in communities across the country – even without the popular support afforded traditional white feminist groups. These organizations provide a model for how to upend patriarchal, white supremacist, and capitalist institutions by fighting for folks who are marginalized by society-at-large in *all* these aspects.

I envision part of my thesis' contribution as documenting and boosting the voices of individuals and organizations that are doing incredible work.⁵⁷ As an Asian American non-binary person, I look to take the lead from and stand in solidarity with BIPOC-led organizations fighting the prison-industrial complex, resisting mass incarceration and the violence of the criminal punishment system, utilizing transformative justice and community accountability interventions for sexual violence, and advocating for the voices and needs of Black, Indigenous, non-white,

⁵⁷ I have bolded the names of the organizations that I am specifically drawing from when they are first mentioned.

and queer women and gender-diverse individuals whose voices have been actively silenced by the traditional feminist anti-violence movements.

In this final chapter, I will let these groups' actions speak for themselves. In the following sections, I will highlight three major insights gleaned from contemporary activist organizations that are doing anti-violence, abolitionist, and/or anti-racism work. Learning from the expertise of these organizations, I articulate three lessons that I believe should guide feminist activism against sexual violence. These three lessons are: prioritizing voices at the margin to redefine "women's oppression" based on the experiences of those who are multiply oppressed; acknowledging the carceral state as complicit in perpetuating sexual violence; and finally, strengthening transformative justice and community-accountability frameworks. I believe these aspects are fundamental for a feminist anti-violence praxis that promotes the well-being and liberation of *all* women, and trans, non-binary, and gender-diverse people, and especially those who experience race and class oppression.

Prioritizing Voices at the Margins to Reframe "Women's Oppression"

In 1966 when the National Organization of Women was formed, the founders clearly expressed their hope that the organization would act as a nationwide touchstone for feminists of all stripes (Thomas 2016). Looking back, more than fifty years later, we see how this goal of universality simply meant the dismissal of nuanced and complicated understandings of intersectional and structural oppression as well as those who experienced it. This tempered the radicality of the mainstream movement, making it easier for later feminist movements such as the anti-rape movement and the battered women's movement to act in ways that white women of privilege saw fit, but that actually oppressed poor communities and communities of color in particular. In reaction, bell hooks, articulates a feminist theory rooted in an understanding of gender, race, and class (hooks 2015). In her view, those discarded by the traditional feminist movements are located in the margin. She writes, "To be in the margin is to be part of the whole but outside the main body" (hooks 2015, XVI). She argues for a feminist theory and praxis that emerges from those who are victimized by sexist, racist, and classist oppression: Black women and gender-diverse individuals. According to hooks, only by centering these communities at the forefront of liberation and anti-violence movements can we achieve true liberation without supporting the continued oppression of other groups (hooks 2015). She lays out a path forward in the first chapter of her book (hooks 2015, 16):

"It is essential for continued feminist struggle that Black women recognize the special vantage point our marginality gives us and make use of this perspective to criticize the dominant racist, classist, sexist hegemony as well as to envision and create a counter-hegemony. I am suggesting that we have a central role to play in the making of a feminist theory and a contribution to offer that is unique and valuable."

This call-to-action was written in 1984 yet is just as important now as it was then. At the same time, Black, Indigenous, and non-white women and gender-diverse people have been organizing at the margins, creating theory and praxis based on class, race, and gender oppression, taking action that benefits those who are multiply oppressed in their identities, creating systems of accountability while rejecting state-sanctioned violence, and working toward community healing and transformation.

There are many organizations, past and current, from which to take inspiration from. **INCITE!** is one example of an organization that embodies hooks' ideal. It is a national, radical feminist of color organization founded in 2000 that aims to fight violence on both an interpersonal and state level (INCITE!). It describes its work as abolition feminism: "Abolition feminism is a liberatory vision of a world free from all forms of violence including gender

Gen 71

violence and the violence of police and prisons" (INCITE!). On their website, INCITE! outlines the political analysis behind its work, separated into two parts: "Dangerous Intersections" and "Recentering vs. Inclusion."⁵⁸ In the first section, it declares that women of color live at the "dangerous intersection" of sexism and racism, in addition to other oppressions such as class oppression, and that the unique ways in which violence manifests in their lives need to be addressed (INCITE!). In the latter section, INCITE! writes that, rather aiming to "include" women of color in traditional feminism, which would never serve them or their needs, feminist organizations must "place women, gender-nonconforming and trans people of color at the center. That means letting go of assumptions about what a domestic violence program should look like, and instead asking: what would it take *to end violence against women & trans people of color*?" (INCITE!). Read together, these two driving tenets show us that the necessary ways in which those who experience multiple oppressions must lead liberatory and anti-violence activism.

Similar to INCITE!, **Collective Action For Safe Spaces (CASS)** uses advocacy, education, and political organizing to build community safety and respond to patriarchal and state violence (Collective Action for Safe Spaces). CASS is based in Washington D.C., and its 'About' page announces that it is a "Black, trans, queer, and non-binary-led-organization." Its ideology and actions were founded on six "pillars" or frameworks that inform their activism (Collective Action for Safe Spaces). These pillars focus on the experiences of Black survivors and survivors of color – as demonstrated by their first and second pillars (Pillar One: "WE BELIEVE IN PEOPLE POWER AND CENTER SURVIVORS AT THE MARGINS;" Pillar

⁵⁸ INCITE!'s webpage reads: "Although the anti-sexual/domestic violence movements have been critical in breaking the silence around violence against women, these movements have also become increasingly professionalized and de-politicized, and consequently are often reluctant to address sexual and domestic violence within the larger context of institutionalized violence and oppression. INCITE! recognizes that it is impossible to seriously address sexual/domestic violence within communities of color without addressing these larger structures of violence, such as militarism, attacks on immigrants' rights and Indian treaty rights, the proliferation of prisons, economic neo-colonialism, and the medical industry." <u>https://incite-national.org/analysis/</u>

Two: "WE APPROACH OUR WORK THROUGH AN INTERSECTIONAL, ABOLITIONIST LENS.") (Collective Action for Safe Spaces). In addition to its advocacy work, CASS also works on several initiatives including their Safe Bars Collective, their ReThink Masculinity campaign, and their Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA) Campaign (Collective Action for Safe Spaces). The Safe Bars Collective works to make nightlife in D.C. safer for everyone. The ReThink Masculinity campaign (founded by CASS along with ReThink and the D.C. Rape Crisis Center) provides education to masculine-identifying people about how to foster healthy masculinity. Finally, their WMATA campaign aims to eliminate sexual harassment and assault on public transit (Collective Action for Safe Spaces).⁵⁹

While INCITE! And CASS use a framework rooted mainly in political activism to address structural aspects of the oppression of women and trans individuals of color, that is not necessarily the only way. Other organizations like the **Women of Color Network (WOCN)**, **A Long Walk Home**, and **The National Center on Violence Against Women in the Black Community (Ujima)** focus on empowering, supporting, and centering the perspectives women and trans people of color. WOCN was formed in 1997 in response to the issues that women of color advocates and activists faced within the traditional violence against women movement (WOCN). WOCN's works toward its anti-violence mission by "centralizing the voices and promoting the leadership of women of color across the Sovereign Nations, the United States and U.S. Territories" (WOCN). WOCN addresses a broad spectrum of violence ranging from domestic violence and sexual assault specifically to human trafficking, police brutality, and overincarceration more broadly (WOCN).

⁵⁹ Interestingly, their WMATA campaign includes signs and advertisements that call upon people to report incidents of sexual harassment to the Metro Transit Police. See: <u>https://www.collectiveactiondc.org/our-work/wmata-anti-sexual-harassment-campaign/</u>

A Long Walk Home has a similar mission of empowerment as a method of addressing violence against girls and women. It believes that increasing not only resources and opportunities but also creative outlets for society's most vulnerable women, girls, and gender non-conforming individuals is an important step towards centering the survivors' voices and "remov[ing] the obstacles that inhibit them from reaching their full potential" (A Long Walk Home). It hosts the Girl/Friends Leadership Institute that provides participants with a five-week-long training in art and activism, and the Girl/Power afterschool program in which youth conduct social justice campaigns and peer education training (A Long Walk Home). A Long Walk Home also has produced and performed a 90-minute performance called STORY OF A RAPE SURVIVOR (SOARS) that portrays one Black woman's experiences of sexual assault.⁶⁰

In contrast, The National Center on Violence Against Women in the Black Community, also known as Ujima, concentrates its efforts on providing resources and support, as well as education, for Black women and trans folk. It provides extensive trainings and outreach tools aimed at reducing violence against Black women (Ujima). It offers a host of trainings including: Engaging Men and Boys, Addressing DV/SA at Historically Black Colleges and Universities, Addressing DV/SA⁶¹ in the Immigrant Community, Bystander Intervention, Trafficking, and Serving the LGBT community (Ujima). Ujima is unique to the other organizations highlighted because it also is a resource center for Black survivors of violence and their family and friends; it offers programs and services that are specific to the Black community. Finally, Ujima is also a hub of research, with the goal of using research findings to better serve the Black community and to promote community safety and violence reduction more effectively (Ujima).

⁶⁰ This performance was based on the experiences of the two women and sisters who founded A Long Walk Home. See: A Long Walk Home.

⁶¹ DV/SA stands for domestic violence/sexual assault.

While all the organizations highlighted in this section address sexual violence in different ways, they all focus their work on Black communities and communities of color. They do their work at the nexus of both race and gender oppressions (and often class oppressions as well) tackling these sticky issues head-on and providing nuanced and complicated understandings of these multiple forms of marginalization. As these amazing organizations demonstrate, prioritizing the voices of Black women and femmes, women of color, and gender-diverse people of color, is an important step toward a feminist movement that seeks anti-carceral solutions.

Recognizing the Criminal Punishment System Contributes to Sexual Violence

The next step is recognizing that the carceral state contributes to sexual violence. INCITE!, for example, states in large lettering, on its home page: "INCITE! is a network of radical feminists of color organizing *to end state violence* and violence in our homes and communities." (emphasis added) (INCITE!). It articulates this mission as tangible goals in several of its "principles of unity:" among these principles, INCITE! promises to "[r]ecognize the state as the central organizer of violence which oppresses women, transpeople and gender nonconforming people of color and our communities," "[r]ecognize these expressions of violence against women, transpeople, and gender non-conforming people of color as including colonialism, police brutality, immigration policies, reproductive control, etc.," and "[d]iscourage any solicitation of federal or state funding for INCITE! activities" (INCITE!).

CASS further articulates the role of the state in the perpetration of violence in Black communities and communities of color. CASS's 'About' page details their mission to end patriarchal violence. It defines patriarchal violence in this way (italics added) (Collective Action for Safe Spaces):

"Patriarchal violence is an *interconnected system of institutions, practices, policies, beliefs, and behaviors* that harm, undervalues, and terrorize girls, women,

femme, intersex, gender non-conforming, LGBTQ, and other gender oppressed people in our communities. Patriarchal violence is a widespread, normalized epidemic based on the *domination, control, and colonizing of bodies, genders, and sexualities* happening in every community globally. Patriarchal violence is a global power structure and *manifests on the systemic, institutional,* interpersonal, and internalized level.

Examples include normalization of rape culture; the harassment, abuse, and murder of Black women *by police* and by community members, the *criminalization* of sex workers, homophobic and transphobic violence, the leading cause of death of Black trans and cis women being murder by partners, and the *erasure of trans and nonbinary people in local and national policies*."

This recognition of the carceral state's role in perpetuating and perpetrating violence against women and gender-diverse people of color is also detailed in a fact sheet about state violence and gender violence (Collective Action for Safe Spaces). In this fact sheet, CASS asserts: "State actors are perpetrators of gender-based violence" (Collective Action for Safe Spaces). It goes on to describe how, in an unofficial study by the National Police Misconduct Reporting Project at the Cato institute, sexual assault is the second most common form of police brutality (behind the excessive use of force). It adds that this number is surely an underestimation, due to the lack of reporting and accountability within law enforcement, and also due to the fact that police violence is disproportionately experienced by marginalized populations (Collective Action for Safe Spaces).

In the **Black Youth Project 100's (BYP 100)** current She Safe, We Safe campaign, a recognition of the state's role in the perpetration of violence against Black women and femmes is central to the articulation of the goals of their campaign. The "dual strategy approach" of the campaign includes working to shift culture and increase community safety, as well as fighting against the violence of the state and "particularly the patriarchal violence of the police" (BYP 100). BYP 100's goals of their campaign are twofold (BYP 100):

1) "Increase interventions to gender-based violence available to Black women, girls, gender non-conforming people, and communities that do not rely on contact with the police.

2) Reallocate funding from the police to community-determined programs that address gender-based violence in Black communities."

As part of the She Safe, We Safe campaign, BYP 100 is also running a Story Collection Project (BYP 100). Its goal is to document Black folks' experiences of gender violence, stories of how Black folks have addressed violence and harm without police intervention, and finally visions of a world without gender and state violence (BYP 100).

Tackling a different aspect of carceral state-sanctioned sexual violence, **Survived and Punished (S&P)**⁶² specifically focuses its efforts on survivors who live at the intersection of sexual violence and criminalization. S&P's 2020 Annual Review details the ways it has worked to decriminalize efforts to survive domestic and sexual violence, support both free and criminalized survivors, and abolish all forms of gender violence which include policing, prisons, and deportations (Survived & Punished). S&P specifically recognizes the gender violence caused by the state and its institutions (Survived & Punished). Its political analysis reads (Survived & Punished):

"Once incarcerated or detained, many women (including trans women) and trans & gender non-conforming people experience sexual violence from guards and others. Being controlled by police, prosecutors, judges, immigration enforcement, homeland security, detention centers, and prisons is often integrated with the experience of domestic violence and sexual assault. This is especially true for Black, Native, and immigrant survivors."

Finally, the merging of prison abolition groups and anti-violence groups provides a radical framework through which to envision a future free from carceral state-sanctioned patriarchal violence and sexual violence. In a 2001 joint statement on Gender Violence and the Prison Industrial Complex, **Critical Resistance**⁶³ and INCITE! wrote a powerful critique of both the current feminist anti-violence movements and the prison abolition movements. They state

⁶² S&P is a national non-profit that also houses several state collectives.

⁶³ Critical Resistance is a national grassroots organization dedicated to ending American reliance on prisons and policing to address social problems.

that both movements worked in contradiction to each other, and yet also both ignored the situation and experiences of Black women and women of color in their work (Critical Resistance and INCITE!). Speaking specifically to the feminist anti-violence movement, they called on antiviolence programs to end their reliance on state funding, which has increasingly professionalized the field and sacrificed its connection to community organizing and social justice roots. Finally, they poignantly describe the ways in which simply being put in contact with the criminal punishment system can be a form of patriarchal violence against Black women and genderdiverse individuals, and those of color (Critical Resistance and INCITE!). They write: "The reliance on the criminal justice system has taken power away from women's ability to organize collectively to stop violence and has invested this power within the state. The result is that women who seek redress in the criminal justice system feel disempowered and alienated" (Critical Resistance and INCITE!). All the organizations highlighted in this section, as well as others I have not mentioned, provide examples of the ways that recognition of the culpability of the carceral state in perpetrating sexual violence can dictate exciting and liberating possibilities of new praxis.

Promoting Community-Centered Frameworks of Accountability and Transformative Justice

Lastly, many of these incredible organizations utilize community-centered understandings of accountability to inform and promote transformative justice responses *instead of* punishment-based responses. This could be in the form of transformative justice organizations, mutual aid, public policy that diverts individuals out of the criminal punishment system, community groups or grassroots networks, or other types accountability systems that focus on transforming harm in the goal of promoting community safety and healing.

The first step is moving away from punishment-based definitions of accountability. Mia Mingus, a transformative justice advocate and grassroots organizer, defines accountability as

such: "True accountability is not only apologizing, understanding the impacts your actions have caused on yourself and others, making amends or reparations to the harmed parties; but most importantly, true accountability is changing your behavior so that the harm, violence, abuse does not happen again" (Mingus 2019). Other organizations such as **Philly Stands Up!** and **generationFIVE** use working definitions of accountability that mirror the wording and parts of Mingus' definition almost exactly (Dixon and Piepzna-Samarasinha 2020; generationFIVE).

Putting this definition of accountability into practice can be difficult. Achieving all those things can be a long and difficult – yet very rewarding – process for all parties involved. Philly Stands Up! provides one example of how this definition of accountability could be employed to design a process to help the survivor, person who caused harm, and the community to move toward healing. Philly Stands Up! conceptualizes five phases to the accountability process for people who have perpetrated sexual assault (Dixon and Piepzna-Samarasinha 2020). These phases are the Beginning, Designing the Structure, Life Process, Tools We Use, and Closing a Process. Details of each step of the process are articulated in Figure 1 (Dixon and Piepzna-Samarasinha 2020).

Phase	Definition	Specific Examples
The	Recognizing that harm has occurred	Example: "A few years ago, I was
Beginning	and wanting to move towards	abusive. I wasn't ready to work
	healing. Assessing the situation.	through it until now."
Designing the	Designing a process based on each	Examples of demands: "Pay for my
Structure	situation. Driven by demands	STI testing/abortion/doctor's
	(actions the survivor needs from the	appointment." Or "Don't talk to me or
	community or the person who	contact me."
	caused harm in order to be safe and	Examples of adaptations: Designing
	to heal). Adapted to best engage the	methods to suit different learning
	person who caused harm.	styles. Incorporating input from the
		person who caused harm.
Life Process	Making sure that the accountability	If the person who caused harm is in an
	process fosters balance and creates	unstable situation, that must be

Figure 1. Five Phases of the Accountability Process, as Articulated by Philly Stands Up!

	structure in the person's life. In	addressed first. It may be crucial to
	other words, creating a sustainable	help them feel grounded, have stable
	way to engage with the	housing and a job, and/or go to
	accountability process.	therapy.
Tools We Use	Each process is unique. The goal is	Some tools are: Storytelling, Writing,
	to push for new levels of	Role-playing, and education via:
	understanding and build lifelong	Reading, Listening, or Watching.
	skills of perception and empathy.	
Closing a	Closing a process usually happens	Signs that a process is ready to end
Process	when the letter and the spirit of the	include: they are able to navigate
	demands have been met, and when	through "gray zones;" they have spent
	the person who caused harm has	a lot of time and effort in
	changed in a lasting way. The	understanding their role in the assault;
	process is slowly phased out.	they have a sense of empathy for how
		the assault affected the survivor(s) and

Philly Stands Up!'s accountability process is just one example of a transformative justice strategy that has been successfully used to respond to harm and work towards accountability and healing for individuals and the larger community. Other organizations focus on different aspects of this process, utilize slightly different definitions of transformative justice, or focus on supporting individually the survivor or the person who caused harm. Broadly, generationFIVE, another group that centers transformative justice frameworks, defines the goals of transformative justice as: "Safety, healing, and agency for survivors; accountability and transformation for people who harm; community action, healing, and accountability, and transformation of the social conditions that perpetuate violence – systems of oppression and exploitation, domination, and state violence" (generationFIVE). generationFIVE emphasizes three different aspects necessary to enacting community-driven transformative justice. First, survivors must be able to have agency and take space in their paths towards healing. Second, people who harm must be held accountable for the harm they have caused, but they also need to be given the opportunity to

the community; they have sustainable systems of support; they are familiar

with resources near them.

transform. Finally, the entire community must take action in order to change the overarching social conditions that allow violence to happen (generationFIVE).

Survivors must be able to create their own strategies for safety, healing, and survival. Work by the **Philly Survivor Support Collective** is a guiding light for ways in which to center survivor agency in their own individual path in survival. Philly Survivor Support Collective is a group that works to support survivors in directing their own healing, offers alternatives to the legal system, and takes action to transform communities towards ending sexual violence (Philly Survivor Support Collective). Under their Points of Unity, their guiding beliefs include (Philly Survivor Support Collective):

"Survivors are the authority on their own experience in the face of a society that tries to discredit and interrogate them. Sexual assault harms entire communities and it is everyone's responsibility to take sexual assault seriously and work to change the conditions that allow it to happen. Sexual assault reinforces and is an expression of other sources of violence in our communities. The criminal legal system is violent and harmful, including to survivors."

Philly Survivor Support Collective also offers a zine entitled "Strategies for Survivors" (Philly Survivor Support Collective). The zine covers strategies for safety planning, reflecting on things you need, letting your emotions out, figuring out what your trauma triggers are and how to deal with them, goal setting, engaging your community in ways that you can receive support, seeking accountability from the person or people who have caused harm, and offers resources for survivors as well as those supporting them (Philly Survivor Support Collective).

The second principle regards perpetrators as people who must take responsibility, but also have the capacity to grow and change. **The Ahimsa Collective** provides an inspiring example of ways in which organizations can involve perpetrators in their work to cultivate healing and transformation for everyone. One of their major programs, Victim Offender Dialogues (VODs) allow for a face-to-face meeting between the person who was harmed and the person who caused the harm (Ahimsa Collective). In following with the abovementioned fundamental part of transformative justice, this program aims to give survivors the experience of talking directing with the harmed party in a safe setting and allow them agency to voice what they need to say and get answers only the other party can provide. This also is the first step in the person responsible for harm to more fully understand their impact on the other person and take steps towards self-healing (Ahimsa Collective). In addition, the Ahimsa Collective has several healing circle programs it runs in California state prisons, including: Realize (a 16-month program where participants explore their relationship to intimate violence and think about topics like trauma, resiliency, and breaking cycles of harm) and Empathize (a yearlong program where participants focus on the stories, experiences, and impacts of their actions on the people the harmed; they process victim impact statements, do writing exercises to develop empathy, remorse, accountability, and self-healing, and finally participants write an apology letter) (Ahimsa Collective). The Ahimsa Collective also provides re-entry support to formerly incarcerated people, and offer rides home for anyone being released from any California State facility of jail (Ahimsa Collective).⁶⁴

Finally, anti-violence organizations must engage the community in taking action to change the social conditions and structures that allow and perpetuate sexual harm. One way to do this is exemplified by the Oakland-based organization **Creative Interventions**. It was established in 2004 by founder Mimi Kim to offer a space for those most impacted by violence to envision and create ways to end it: via education, skills, and support concentrated in the community, and by placing knowledge and power in the hands of those nearest to violence (Creative Interventions). One important program is their Community-Based Interventions

⁶⁴ This is in collaboration with the Anti-Recidivism Coalition.

Project, a pilot program that aims to create and promote alternatives to the criminal punishment system that communities can implement to prevent violence and intervene when it occurs (Creative Interventions). After building the "Creative Interventions Toolkit: A Practical Guide to Stop Interpersonal Violence,"⁶⁵ Creative Interventions now currently focuses on building community capacity to institute community-based interventions, transformative justice, and community accountability – and make these real options (Creative Interventions). They are working with local partners all over the country, refining their models, tools, stories, and resources from these networks to move to the next stage in their work.

The Ahimsa Collective embodies yet another model for community action that addresses the social inequalities that allow violence to occur. The Ahimsa Collective is currently working with the Mutual Aide & Restorative Justice (MARJ) network to support those impacted by violence and trauma, crime survivors, and formerly incarcerated people and their families (Ahimsa Collective). They offer phone calls to their network, weekly online check-in circles, immediate support for individuals currently experiencing harm, local grocery drop-offs, and even modest financial assistance (Ahimsa Collective).

A different model is creating groups of people who are trained to intervene when harm occurs. **The Bay Area Justice Collective**, an organization founded to build up transformative justice responses to child sexual abuse, does this through its creation of an Interventions Crew (Bay Area Justice Collective). The Crew is staffed by members who have undergone extensive training in different community or collective-action-based practical models of responding to sexual violence and child sexual abuse. This Interventions Crew has even begun consulting on and taking on cases (Bay Area Justice Collective)!

⁶⁵ The webpage to download the pdf version of the toolkit is here: <u>https://www.creative-interventions.org/tools/toolkit/</u>.

Economic re-distribution is also an essential part of community transformation. Some organizations address this aspect more explicitly than others. The Audre Lorde Project, for example, runs a campaign called Brick by Brick that helps trans and gender non-conforming people of color find safe and affordable housing (The Audre Lorde Project). It also runs a financial literacy workshop specifically for lesbian, gay, bisexual, Two-Spirit, trans, and gender non-Conforming People of Color that provides information about navigating intersecting barriers to financial sustainability (The Audre Lorde Project). Resist is another group who has a strong focus on economic justice. They work primarily to "redistribute resources back to frontline communities at the forefront of change while amplifying their stories of building a better world" (Resist). As part of their philosophy of "radical philanthropy," Resist gives grants to U.S. organizations, led by those most affected by intersecting forms of oppression, actively working against "white and Christian supremacy, capitalism, gender, and sexual oppression, and all forms of patriarchy" (Resist). Among the groups they funded in 2020 alone are 9 to 5 Los Angeles - a group that aims to build a movement for economic justice by working for equal pay, power, and participation for working women (particularly women of color) – and A Community Voice – an organization comprised of working, poor, elderly, women, children, and families that amplifies the voices of its members and fights for social and economic justice for low to moderate income families (9to5; A Community Voice). Finally, in addition to its abolition-focused work, Critical Resistance Oakland also runs a community fund called the Zachary Project (Critical Resistance). This program gives financial aid and economic support directly to Oakland community members in need. It has helped cover housing costs after coming home from prison, medication and healthcare supplies, food, and more (Critical Resistance).

Ultimately, these incredible organizations provide a multiplicity of models for how feminist activists can move forward in anti-violence work. Learning from their achievements, we learn the importance and effectiveness of: prioritizing marginalized voices, recognizing the complicity of the carceral state in promoting sexual violence, and strengthening transformative justice and community-centered accountability systems. I submit that abolition feminism, as displayed by the incredible organizations mentioned above, is the solution to the issues created by carceral feminist hegemony. Only by taking the lead from, and being accountable to, these communities at the front lines of the struggle for liberation can all of us truly be free.

Conclusion

In this paper, I hoped to explain why and how carceral feminism became the dominant framework for responding to and preventing sexual violence. I analyzed the actions of both feminist and institutional actors to uncover how U.S. society defined accountability through punishment and embraced criminalization as the main response to sexual violence. Through my analysis, I found that the trajectory of carceral feminism I have outlined was caused by two main factors: first, the whitewashing of "women's oppression" which focused on experiences of white, well-off women in mainstream feminism, and second, the strong punitive political atmosphere of the 1980s that promoted policing and incarceration as the primary response to sexual violence. Because of these major developments, anti-violence feminist movements adapted to and succeeded within the highly carceral climate, and federal institutions and actors enthusiastically adopted these punitive approaches in the realm of higher education due to the "campus rape epidemic."

Carceral feminist movements and reforms against sexual violence have achieved many successes in the law, society, and culture of the United States. Specifically, there have been

many historic moments (such as the anti-rape movement, the battered women's movement, and the "campus rape epidemic") where these movements and reform efforts brought rape and sexual assault to the surface of mainstream discourse. The current #MeToo movement is a continuation and a contemporary example. While the #MeToo movement and other white women-led actions have caused cultural uproar, the mere fact that we are still talking about the same issues for hundreds of years is a testament to the fact that little has changed. Why haven't these moments resulted in a safer and more equal society? The answer is that they do not challenge the oppressions that our society was built on; they do not change the balance of power that fosters so much sexual violence. Instead, they only address the most *overt* ways that privileged people experience oppression – while nothing changes for those individuals at the margins.

I believe it is impossible to achieve liberation from sexual violence without also disrupting other massive systems of oppression that serve to keep certain communities at the margins of society. Only by taking the lead from those at the margins, and prioritizing voices holding intersectional identities, feminism can finally begin to chip away at the network of systems restricting the freedom of women and gender-diverse people of all different backgrounds, nationalities, races, and economic classes.

To achieve a better future, the carceral feminist approach underlying anti-sexual violence efforts must be replaced by what Angela Davis and others have called abolition feminism. This alternative is grounded in the phenomenal work of queer and working-class feminists and feminists of color, who often have no choice but to confront the carceral state as a problem rather than a solution. It centers on the marriage of interpersonal, anti-sexual violence work, prison abolition work, and social and economic justice to advocate for a future free of interpersonal and carceral state-sanctioned violence. Building on this framework and the efforts of the activists who use it, I propose that feminist anti-violence work must do three things, if it has any hope of building a safer and more liberated world. First, it must prioritize the needs and experiences of intersectionallymarginalized communities to get to the root of the social, economic, and cultural injustices. Second, having recognized the experiences of marginalized communities, it must acknowledge the ways that policing and the carceral state promotes sexual violence. This is necessary to address the full spectrum of violence experiences by women and gender non-conforming people. Finally, it must build up the capacity of transformative justice programs that serve survivors and those who have caused harm to provide a variety of affirming options for survivors and to begin the process of de-carceration.

When I evaluate traditional feminist and institution's histories of activism against sexual violence, I clearly see *that they have caused harm*. This thesis is the culmination of a year's worth of research trying to understand the nature and extent of this harm. However, this is not to say that we should cancel or reject mainstream/traditional activism completely. Instead, I believe that holding feminist activism and institutions *accountable* for their actions is an opportunity for learning, growth, and ultimately, societal transformation. I believe that we must take the lead from organizations like Philly Stands Up!, generationFIVE, and The Ahimsa Collective when we begin to think about accountability, healing, and repair.

Recalling the five phases of accountability articulated by Philly Stands Up!, the first step in any accountability process is awareness: assessing the situation, recognizing that harm has occurred, and endeavoring to be accountable for those actions and heal. In this paper, I have attempted to understand how we arrived at predominantly carceral feminist responses to sexual violence, and I began the process of unpacking how these actions have harmed communities of color (especially Black communities), queer and trans communities, and low-income communities. I envision this paper as contributing to the first stage of an accountability process. We are not yet at the point where the larger feminist and institutional communities understand how their actions have caused reverberating harm among more marginalized communities. However, I hope that my work here will contribute to this growing awareness. In addition, in my paper I hope to model how prioritizing and learning from the voices of those endangered by traditional carceral actions can help the larger feminist community articulate steps toward change. In the same way that the survivor creates a list of demands that they need to feel safe and begin on the path towards healing, these strong and resilient communities have been organizing, maintaining spaces for healing, and articulating their demands for *decades*. Below, I have compiled an appendix of organizations that I believe embody the possibilities and power of abolition feminism. These organizations' mission statements, when read together, are those demands.

I dearly hope that other scholars, activists, and institutional actors build from my work here and continue to move us closer towards accountability, healing, and transformation. The process will be long. Holding feminist movements and institutions accountable is a daunting prospect, to say the least. There is much work to be done. But, by learning from Black communities, other communities of color, queer and trans communities, and poor communities, I know it can be done.

Appendix A

Below is an alphabetized list of organizations/resources that: work to end sexual violence outside of the carceral state, aim to transform sexual harm via community accountability and restorative or transformative justice, promote Black feminism and feminism of BIPOC individuals, and/or work towards prison abolition with an emphasis on the problem of sexual harm. This is by no means an exhaustive list. It is meant to be a starting point and a place to acknowledge the work of dozens of incredible organizations and individuals that, in my opinion, provide inspiring exemplars of the possibilities and power of abolition feminism.

A Long Walk Home

Mission Statement: "A Long Walk Home empowers young artists and activists to end violence against all girls and women. We advocate for racial and gender equity in schools, communities, and our country-at-large." Based in: Chicago, IL

Year Founded: 2003 http://www.alongwalkhome.org

Asian American Feminist Collective

About: "Asian American feminism is a world-building project. The beauty of the Asian American feminist movement is that we can continue to shape and evolve it. We must constantly reflect upon and refine a political agenda that works for all of us. Our goal is to continue interrogating and defining this movement as well as producing different spaces and resources to build stronger coalitions, connect people in the Asian American community, and produce new ideas."

Based in: New York City, NY Year Founded: 2018 https://www.asianamfeminism.org

Assata's Daughters

Mission Statement: "Assata's Daughters ("AD") is a Black woman-led, young person-directed organization rooted in the Black Radical Tradition. AD organizes young Black people in Chicago by providing them with political education, leadership development, mentorship, and revolutionary services. Through our programs we aim to Deepen, Escalate, and Sustain the Movement for Black Liberation."

Based in: Chicago, IL Year Founded: 2015 https://www.assatasdaughters.org

Audre Lorde Project

Mission Statement: "The Audre Lorde Project is a Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Two Spirit, Trans and Gender Non Conforming People of Color center for community organizing, focusing on the New York City area. Through mobilization, education and capacity-building, we work for community wellness and progressive social and economic justice. Committed to struggling across differences, we seek to responsibly reflect, represent and serve our various communities." Based in: Brooklyn, NY Year Founded: 1994 (https://alp.org)

Bay Area Transformative Justice Collective

Mission statement: "The Bay Area Transformative Justice Collective (BATJC) is a community group based out of Oakland, CA working to build and support transformative justice responses to child sexual abuse. We envision a world where everyday people can intervene in incidences of child sexual abuse in ways that not only meet immediate needs but also prevent future violence and harm."

Based in: Oakland, CA https://batjc.wrdpress.com)

Black Feminist Future

About: "Black Feminist Future is a movement incubator that focuses on the dynamic possibilities of galvanizing the social and political power of Black feminisms as a blueprint for liberation. BFF intends to amplify and support the leadership and power of Black feminist leaders and increase the capacity and impact of Black feminist organizations, and movements." https://www.blackfeministfuture.org

Black and Pink National

Mission Statement: "Black & Pink National is a prison abolitionist organization dedicated to abolishing the criminal punishment system and liberating LGBTQIA2S+ people and people living with HIV/AIDS who are affected by that system through advocacy, support, and organizing."

Based in: Omaha, NE (has a grassroots network of 11 independent chapters across the country) Year Founded: 2005

https://www.blackandpink.org

Black Constellation Network

About: "Constellation is a national, member-based, Black reproductive health, rights, and justice network that connects, aligns, and weaves dynamic, Black repro leaders and movements towards collective power, bold leadership, and visionary action."

https://blackconstellationnetwork.org

Black Women Radicals

Mission Statement: "Our mission is to overcome the systemic erasure of Black women and gender expansive peoples' radical activism by ensuring that their voices, perspectives, grassroots organizing, theoretical frameworks, leadership, and memory are seen, heard, felt, and known. For so long, Black women and gender non-conforming and non-binary people's political leadership and movement building has been overlooked in academia and society writ-large." https://www.blackwomenradicals.com

Black Youth Project 100 (BYP 100)

Mission Statement: "BYP100 is National, member-based organization of Black 18-35 year old activists and organizers, dedicated to creating justice and freedom for all Black people. We do this through building a network focused on transformative leadership development, direct action organizing, advocacy, and political education using a Black queer feminist lens." Based in: Chicago, IL Year Founded: 2013 https://www.byp100.org

Collective Action for Safe Spaces (CASS)

About: "Collective Action for Safe Spaces is a Black trans, queer, and non-binary-led organization that uses public education, cultural organizing, coalition-building, and advocacy to build community safety. CASS cultivates the greater DC community's capacity to respond directly to patriarchal and state violence through transformative justice and abolitionist frameworks."

Based in: Washington D.C. https://www.collectiveactiondc.org

Chicago Freedom School

Mission Statement: "Founded in 2007, CFS creates new generations of critical thinkers who use their unique experiences and power to create a just world. Inspired by the Mississippi Freedom Schools of the Civil Rights Era, CFS takes <u>an innovative approach</u> to youth activism, leadership development, and movement building."

Based in: Chicago, IL Year Founded: 2007 https://chicagofreedomschool.org

Circles and Ciphers

About: "Circles & Ciphers is a hip-hop infused restorative justice organization led by and for young people impacted by violence. Through art-based peace circles, education, and direct action we collectively heal and work to bring about the abolition of the prison-industrial complex."

Based in: Chicago, IL Year Founded: 2010 http://www.circlesandciphers.org

Creative Interventions

About: "Creative Interventions sought to make support and safety more accessible, stop violence at early stages of abuse, and create possibilities for once abusive individuals and communities to evolve towards healthy change and transformation."

Year Founded: 2004

https://www.creative-interventions.org

Critical Resistance

Mission Statement: "Critical Resistance seeks to build an international movement to end the Prison Industrial Complex by challenging the belief that caging and controlling people makes us safe. We believe that basic necessities such as food, shelter, and freedom are what really make our communities secure. As such, our work is part of global struggles against inequality and powerlessness. The success of the movement requires that it reflect communities most affected by the PIC. Because we seek to abolish the PIC, we cannot support any work that extends its life or scope."

Based in: CR currently has chapters in: Oakland, Los Angeles, New York City, and Portland Year Founded: 1997

http://criticalresistance.org

generationFIVE

About: generationFIVE commits to "building the capacity within intimate networks to respond to and prevent child sexual abuse, and to shift the conditions that allow child sexual abuse to happen."

Year Founded: 2000 http://www.generationfive.org

INCITE!

About: "INCITE! is a network of radical feminists of color organizing to end state violence and violence in our homes and communities."

Based in: Detroit, MI https://incite-national.org

Just Practice

Mission Statement: "Just Practice Collaborative exists to build our communities' capacity to effectively and empathically respond to intimate partner violence and sexual assault without

relying primarily on police or other state-based systems. We provide training, resources, and structures of support for facilitators of restorative and transformative processes." Based in: Chicago, IL https://just-practice.org

National Coalition of 100 Black Women

Mission Statement: "The Mission of the National Coalition of 100 Black Women, Inc. is to advocate on behalf of black women and girls to promote leadership development and gender equity in the areas of health, education and economic empowerment." Based in: Atlanta, GA (they have local chapters in 25 different states across the country) Year Founded: 1970 https://ncbw.org

NDN Collective

Mission Statement: "Build the collective power of Indigenous Peoples, communities, and Nations to exercise our inherent right to self-determination, while fostering a world that is built on a foundation of justice and equity for all people and the planet."

Based in: Rapid City, SD

https://ndncollective.org

Philly's Pissed

Philly's Pissed is a now-defunct group, but they have done incredible, influential work in their field, and their website still has lots of zines and resources about sexual assault and community accountability.

About: "Philly's Pissed believes in supporting survivors of sexual assault and domestic violence in a way that provides options and allows the survivor to make their own decisions. We think it is important for survivors to have choices that do not rely on cops, government or big nonprofits."

Based in: Philadelphia, PA http://phillyspissed.net

Philly Stands Up

About: "Philly Stands Up is small collective of individuals working in Philadelphia to confront sexual assault in our various communities using a transformative justice framework. We believe in restoring trust and justice within our community by working with both survivors and perpetrators of sexual assault. We believe that sexual assault comes in many forms and we are doing what we can to actively combat it. We work with people who have assaulted others to hold them accountable to the survivor(s) and restore their relationships within their communities. In dealing with perpetrators, we seek to recognize and change behavior, rather than ostracizing and allowing future assaults elsewhere. We support their healing process, and challenge them on

their behavior in order to prevent future assaults. We also work to educate ourselves and others on issues that contribute to sexualized violence. To encourage awareness building, we provide support for other groups and collectives as well as host workshops in Philly and elsewhere. We are a group that survivors can come to for help and support. We will always support survivors and ensure survivor autonomy, where they will always be in control of how a situation is dealt with."

Based in: Philadelphia, PA https://phillystandsup.wordpress.com

Philly Survivor Support Collective

About: "Our collective supports survivors of sexual assault in directing their own healing. We offer alternatives to the legal system for survivors seeking justice and safety. We also work to transform our communities to end sexual violence." Based in: Philadelphia, PA <u>https://phillysurvivorsupportcollective.wordpress.com/about/</u> *Strategies for Survivors Zine and Info Sheet*: Zine: <u>https://phillysurvivorsupportcollective.wordpress.com/2015/02/22/strategies-for-survivors-zine-available/</u> Info Sheet: <u>https://phillysurvivorsupportcollective.files.wordpress.com/2013/04/strategiesforsurvivors.pdf</u>

Project NIA

About: "Project NIA — "nia" meaning "with purpose" in Swahili—is a grassroots organization that works to end the arrest, detention, and incarceration of children and young adults by promoting restorative and transformative justice practices." Based in: New York City (but worked in Chicago, IL until 2016) Year Founded: 2009 https://project-nia.org

<u>Resist</u>

About: "Resist is a foundation that supports people's movements for justice and liberation. We redistribute resources back to frontline communities at the forefront of change while amplifying their stories of building a better world."

Based in: Boston, MA Year Founded: 1967 https://resist.org

Sister Circle Collective

Sister Circle Collective has ended its operations, but its work provides an important model for other organizations, and its website still has a number of helpful resources.

About: Sister Circle Collective was "invested in building a powerful community for our black and brown cis sisters, trans sisters, queer sisters and gender non-conforming people who together believe in the radical act of sisterhood."

Based in: New York City, NY Years Active: 2012 - 2017 https://sistercirclecollective.org

Spring Up

About: "Spring Up is a multimedia artivist collective and social enterprise building an alternative vision of our world rooted in ongoing consent, liberation, community accountability and care. We prevent and respond to gender based violence with consent education and transformative justice. We primarily serve youth and young adults (18-35) directly impacted by violence (eg. QTPOC, survivors of sexual violence, perpetuators of harm) to equip them with tools to heal from trauma and practice healthy relationships. We support mission-driven organizations seeking to transform internal cultural dynamics to respond to and reduce harm as well as increase diversity, equity and inclusion."

Based in: Miami, FL Year Founded: 2013 http://www.timetospringup.org

S.O.U.L. Sisters Leadership Collective

Mission Statement: "Our mission is to mobilize systems-involved girls, femmes, and TGNC youth of color – Black, Brown, and Indigenous – to interrupt cycles of state violence, poverty, and oppression. Our four pillars are leadership, healing, social justice, and the arts." Based in: Miami, FL and New York City, NY Year Founded: 2013 https://soulsistersleadership.org

Survived & Punished

About: "Survived & Punished is a prison abolition organization. We believe that prisons, detention centers, all forms of law enforcement, and punitive prosecution are rooted in systems of violence, including racial, anti-trans/queer, sexual, and domestic violence. Our work specifically focuses on criminalized survivors to raise awareness about the integrated relationship between systems of punishment and the pervasiveness of gender violence. We aim to initiate mass defense projects that will free all survivors, which would require the abolition of prisons and other systems of punishment."

Survived & Punished is a national collective, and it also has affiliate collectives in California; Chicago, IL; and New York

Year Founded: 2016

https://survivedandpunished.org

The Ahimsa Collective

About: "The Ahimsa Collective works to address harm in ways that foster wholeness for everyone. Our north star goals are to replace systems of punishment with paradigms grounded in healing, relationship, and love. To get there, we engage with deep trauma healing and restorative justice approaches while being grounded in anti-oppression. We work in deep community with people who have committed an act of violence, survivors of violence, and families impacted by harm. In all of our work, we center agency, liberation, dignity, and transformation."

https://www.ahimsacollective.net

Transform Harm

About: "TransformHarm.org is a resource hub about ending violence. We are not an organization. This site offers an introduction to transformative justice. Created by Mariame Kaba and designed by Lu Design Studio, the site includes selected articles, audio-visual resources, curricula, and more. You can use what is here, and submit recommendations to be added to the focus areas listed here. We hope you will use these materials to foster your own education and also share them with your communities to build something new. Only together can we transform our relationships to each other and society. We hope that this site helps in this effort."

https://transformharm.org

<u>Ujima Community: The National Center on Violence Against Women in the Black Community</u> Mission Statement: "The mission of the National Center on Violence Against Women in the Black Community is to mobilize the community to respond to and end domestic, sexual and community violence in the Black community. We actualize this mission through research, public awareness and community engagement, and resource development. Ujima serves as a resource to: survivors of violence, advocates and service providers, and the community at-large." Based in: Washington, D.C. Year Founded: 2016

https://ujimacommunity.org

<u>Ubuntu</u>

Mission Statement: "UBUNTU was born in the aftermath of the March 13, 2006 rape of a Durham, NC Black woman by members of the Duke University Lacrosse team. UBUNTU is a Women of Color and Survivor-led coalition of individuals and organizational representatives. We prioritize the voices, analyses, and needs of Women of Color and Survivors of sexual violence in both our internal structure and our external work. We are Women, Men, and people who do not fit into the gender binary. We are non-trans and trans. We are People of Color, Multiracial, and White. We come from throughout the Triangle area and have roots both within and

outside of the United States. We are sex workers, students and community members. We are workers. We are Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Two-Spirit, and Questioning. We are Queer and Straight. We are young, old, and in-between. We come from a broad range of economic, geographic, spiritual and political experiences, backgrounds, and perspectives." Based in: Durham, NC

Year Founded: 2006

https://iambecauseweare.wordpress.com/?fbclid=IwAR35QS5fTt7tMbJ4IlirijjPJAhCD8LSPERg M9Ij4-BWoiXxqh5D8sAOyAE

Bibliography

- "ATIXA Position Statement on the Need for Victim Advocates on College Campuses." U.S. Newswire, Aug 11, 2015. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/1702836375</u>.
- "Cheering on Women and Girls in Sports: Using Title IX to Fight Gender Role Oppression." *Harvard Law Review* 110, no. 7 (May 01, 1997): 1627-1644. doi:10.2307/1342183. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/1342183</u>.
- "Grove City College V. Bell Facts and Case Summary." . Accessed 11/13/, 2020.
- "New Research shows the Power of Feminist Movements Around the World." *PR Newswire,* Mar 6, 2020a. apnews.com.
- People v. Mayberry, 542 P.2d, 1337 (Cal: Supreme Court 1975).
- People v. Turner, No. H043709. (Court of Appeals of California, Sixth District. 2018).
- Real Talk. Short Film. Anonymous 2020.
- 9to5. "9to5: Women Working for Equal Pay, Power and Participation!" . Accessed 3/23/, 2021. <u>https://9to5.org</u>.
- A Community Voice. "About A Community Voice." . Accessed 3/23/, 2021. <u>http://www.acommunityvoice.org/about/</u>.
- Alexander, Michelle. *The new Jim Crow: Mass incarceration in the age of colorblindness*. The New Press, 2020.
- A Long Walk Home. "About Us." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. http://www.alongwalkhome.org/about-us/.
- Ahimsa Collective. "What we Do." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://www.ahimsacollective.net/what-we-do.</u>
- Alyssa Milano (@Alyssa_Milano). "If You've been Sexually Harassed Or Assaulted Write 'Me Too' as a Reply to this Tweet," Twitter, 2017.
- Anderson, Greta. "Understanding the Lawsuits Against New Title IX Regulations." *News*, Jul 13, 2020. <u>https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/07/13/understanding-lawsuits-against-new-title-ix-regulations</u>.
- Anderson, Monica and Skye Toor. "How Social Media Users have Discussed Sexual Harassment since #MeToo Went Viral." October 11, 2018. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/10/11/how-social-media-users-have-discussed-sexual-harassment-since-metoo-went-viral/</u>.
- Angela, Davis. "Women, Race and Class." New York: Random House (1981).
- Aron, Nina Renata. "Groping in the Ivy League Led to the First Sexual Harassment Suit -- an Nothing Happened to the Man." *Timeline* (Oct 20, 2017).

- Auerbach, Judy, Linda Blum, Vicki Smith, and Christine Williams. "On Gilligan's" in a Different Voice"." *Feminist Studies* 11, no. 1 (1985): 149-161.
- Bailey, Beth. "REVIEW: Consent: Sexual Rights and the Transformation of American Liberalism by Pamela Haag." *The Journal of American History* 87, no. No. 3 (Dec, 2000): 1126.
- Bailey, Kimberly D. and Kimberly D. Bailey. Issue 4 Fall Article 1 Fall 2010, Lost in Translation: Domestic Violence, the Personal is Political, and the Criminal Justice System, 100. Vol. 100 2010.
- Baker, Carrie N. Review of Feminist Coalitions: Historical Perspectives on Second-Wave Feminism in the United States (Stephanie Gilmore, Ed., 2008). S.1.: Alexander Street, 2009.
- Baker, Katie J. M. "Here's the Powerful Letter the Stanford Victim Read to Her Attacker." *Buzzfeed* (. <u>https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/katiejmbaker/heres-the-powerful-letter-the-stanford-victim-read-to-her-ra#.tvMYn0d3</u>.
- Bartlett, Tom and Nell Gluckman. "She Left Harvard. He Got to Stay." *The Chronicle of Higher Education* 64, no. 26 (. <u>https://www.chronicle.com/article/she-left-harvard-he-got-to-stay/</u>.
- Bay Area Transformative Justice Collective. "Interventions." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://batjc.wordpress.com/our-work/accountability-working-group/</u>.
- Bernstein, Elizabeth. "Carceral politics as gender justice? The "traffic in women" and neoliberal circuits of crime, sex, and rights." *Theory and society* 41, no. 3 (2012): 233-259.
- Bernstein, Elizabeth. "Militarized humanitarianism meets carceral feminism: The politics of sex, rights, and freedom in contemporary antitrafficking campaigns." *Signs: Journal of women in culture and society* 36, no. 1 (2010): 45-71.
- Berrett, Jenni. "An Interview with Andrea Ritchie, Activist & Author of *Invisible no More*." *Ravishly* (Aug 9, 2017).
- BlackPast. "(1982) Audre Lorde, "Learning from the 60s"." . Accessed 3/22/, 2021. <u>https://www.blackpast.org/african-american-history/1982-audre-lorde-learning-60s/</u>.
- Bob, Clifford. "Marketing Rebellion: Insurgent Groups, International Media, and NGO Support." *International Politics (Hague, Netherlands)* 38, no. 3 (Sep, 2001): 311-334. doi:10.1057/palgrave.ip.8892332. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ip.8892332</u>.
- Boyle, Kaitlin M., Ashley Barr, and Jody Clay-Warner. "The Effects of Feminist Mobilization and Women's Status on Universities' Reporting of Rape." *Journal of School Violence* 16, no. 3 (2017): 317-330.
- Briscoe, Dolph IV. "The Seventies: The Great Shift in American Culture, Society, and Politics by Bruce J. Schulman (2001) ." *Not Even Past* (Mar 7, 2012).
- Brittain, Blake. Phyllis Schlafly Family Trademarks, Likeness Dispute Rages On 2021.
- Bumiller, Kristin. In an Abusive State: How Neoliberalism Appropriated the Feminist Movement Against Sexual Violence. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2008a.

- Burns, Nancy and Katherine Gallagher. "Public Opinion on Gender Issues: The Politics of Equity and Roles." *Annual Review of Political Science* 13, no. 1 (May, 2010a): 425-443. doi:10.1146/annurev.polisci.12.040507.142213.
 - ——. "Public Opinion on Gender Issues: The Politics of Equity and Roles." Annual Review of Political Science 13, no. 1 (May, 2010b): 425-443. doi:10.1146/annurev.polisci.12.040507.142213.
- BYP 100. "About." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. https://www.byp100.org/about.
- BYP 100. "She Safe, we Safe." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. https://www.shesafewesafe.org.
- Caidor, Rachel, Mariame Kaba, Deana Lewis, and Beth E. Ritchie. *Black Feminism and Abolition* 2020.
- Call, Jack E., David Nice, and Susette Talarico M. "An Analysis of State Rape Shield Laws." *Social Science Quarterly* 72, no. 4 (Dec 1, 1991): 774-788. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/42864299</u>.
- Cantalupo, Nancy Chi. "Decriminalizing Campus Institutional Responses to Peer Sexual Violence." *Journal of College and University Law* 38, no. 3 (Jun 01, 2012): 481.
- Carlsen, Audrey, Maya Salam, Claire Cain Miller, Denise Lu, Ash Ngu, Jugal K. Patel, and Zach Wichter. "#MeToo Brought Down 201 Powerful Men. nearly Half of their Replacements are Women." *New York Times*, Oct. 29, 2018. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/10/23/us/metoo-replacements.html.
- Castle, Jeremiah J., Shannon Jenkins, Candice D. Ortbals, Lori Poloni-Staudinger, and J. C. Strachan. "The Effect of the #MeToo Movement on Political Engagement and Ambition in 2018." *Political Research Quarterly* 73, no. 4 (2020): 926-941. doi:10.1177/1065912920924824. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912920924824</u>.
- Catharine Mackinnon and Deborah Schwenk. *Book Review: Toward a Feminist Theory of State*. Vol. 12.
- Collective Action for Safe Spaces. "About." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://www.collectiveactiondc.org/about/</u>.
- Collective Action For Safe Spaces. "Our Work." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://www.collectiveactiondc.org/our-work/</u>.
- Collins, Erin. "The criminalization of Title IX." Ohio St. J. Crim. L. 13 (2015): 365.
- Creative Interventions. "CI Goals/Interventions." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://www.creative-interventions.org/about/ci-goals-objectives/</u>.
- Creative Interventions. "Why did CI Start?" . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://www.creative-interventions.org/about/history/</u>.

Crenshaw, Kimberle. "Mapping the Margins." ACM, May 2, 2019.

- Crenshaw, Kimberlé, Andrea Ritchie, Rachel Anspach, Rachel Gilmer, and Luke Harris. "Say Her Name: Resisting Police Brutality Against Black Women." African American Policy Forum, 2015.
- Critical Resistance. "The Zachary Project." . Accessed 3/23/, 2021. <u>http://criticalresistance.org/donate/the-zachary-project/</u>.
- Critical Resistance and Incite! "Critical Resistance-Incite! Statement on Gender Violence And the Prison-Industrial Complex." *Social Justice* 30, no. 3 (93) (2003): 141-50. Accessed March 23, 2021. http://www.jstor.org/stable/29768215.
- Davidson, Sara. "An 'Oppressed Majority' Demands its Rights." *LIFE Magazine* 67, no. 24 (Dec 12, 1969): 67-78.
- Davies, Elizabeth Jordie. "Political Possibilities: Black Feminism Offers a Path to Abolition.". <u>https://www.bitchmedia.org/article/black-feminism-blueprint-abolition</u>.
- Davis, Angela. "Women, Race and Class: An Activist Perspective." *Women's Studies Quarterly* 10, no. 4 (1982): 5.
- Deer, Sarah. "The Enigma of Federal Reform." In *The Beginning and End of Rape*, 92: University of Minnesota Press, 2015.
- Devone, Mark N. "Sexual Assault on College Campuses: An Epidemic and an Alternative Approach." La Salle University Digital Commons. https://digitalcommons.lasalle.edu/undergraduateresearch/20.
- Dixon, Ejeris. *Beyond Survival: Strategies and Stories from the Transformative Justice*. Chico, CA: AK Press, 2020.
- Eagle Forum. "10 Reasons to Oppose the Equal Rights Amendment." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://eagleforum.org/topics/era/10-reasons-to-oppose-equal-rights-amendment.html</u>.
- Eliot, Lise. "Bad Science and the Unisex Brain." *Nature* 566, (2019): 453-454. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-019-00677-x</u>.
- Elizalde, Estefania. *Evolution of Title IX in the Media*. California State University, Northridge: 2017.
- Eskridge, William N., Nan D. Hunter, and Courtney G. Joslin. *Sexuality, Gender, and the Law* Foundation Press New York, 1997.
- Evans, Judith. Feminist Theory Today: An Introduction to Second-Wave Feminism Sage, 1995.
- Evans, Sara M. Feminist Coalitions: Historical Perspectives on Second-Wave Feminism in the United States. Vol. 139 University of Illinois Press, 2008.
- Ferguson, Kathy E. "Feminist Theory Today." *Annual Review of Political Science* 20, no. 1 (May 11, 2017): 269-286. doi:10.1146/annurev-polisci-052715-111648.
- Fieldstadt, Elisha. "Columbia Student Emma Sulkowicz Brings Rape Protest Mattress to Graduation." *NBC News*, May 19, 2015. <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-</u>

<u>news/columbia-student-emma-sulkowicz-brings-rape-response-protest-mattress-graduation-n361321</u>.

- Fileborn, Bianca and Rachel Loney-Howes. *MeToo and the Politics of Social Change*. Cham: Springer International Publishing AG, 2019. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-15213-0. <u>https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/[SITE_ID]</u>/detail.action?docID=5897463.
- Fischel, Joseph J. Sex and Harm in the Age of Consent. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2016.
- Flood, Michael, Molly Dragiewicz, and Bob Pease. *Resistance and Backlash to Gender Equality: An Evidence Review*: Crime and Justice Research Centre, Queensland University of Technology, 2018.
- Foucault, Michel. The History of Sexuality. Vintage Books ed. New York: Vintage Books, 1990.
- Foucault, Michel and Colin Gordon. *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings,* 1972-1977. New York: Pantheon Books, 1980.
- Friedman, Jaclyn. "Adults Hate 'Yes Means Yes' Laws. the College Students I Meet Love them." . <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/posteverything/wp/2015/10/14/adults-hate-affirmative-consent-laws-the-college-students-i-meet-love-them/</u>.
- Garber, Megan. "The Selective Empathy of #MeToo Backlash." *The Atlantic*, Feb 11, 2018. <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/entertainment/archive/2018/02/the-selective-empathy-of-metoo-backlash/553022/</u>.
- Garcia, Sandra E. "Where did BIPOC Come from?" *New York Times*, June 17, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/article/what-is-bipoc.html</u>.
- Gavey, Nicola. Just Sex?: The Cultural Scaffolding of Rape. London; New York: Routledge, 2005.
- Gen, Bethany M. Discussion Forum with Dr. Chris Linder 2020.
- Generation Five. "Transformative Justice." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>http://www.generationfive.org/the-issue/transformative-justice/</u>.
- Gill, Rosalind and Shani Orgad. "The Shifting Terrain of Sex and Power: From the 'sexualization of Culture' to # MeToo." *Sexualities* 21, no. 8 (2018a): 1313-1324. doi:10.1177/1363460718794647. <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1177/1363460718794647.</u> 647.
- Gilligan, Carol. In a Different Voice: Psychological Theory and Women's Development Harvard University Press, 1993.
- Gilmore, Stephanie, and Elizabeth Kaminski. "A part and apart: Lesbian and straight feminist activists negotiate identity in a second-wave organization." *Journal of the History of Sexuality* 16, no. 1 (2007): 95-113.

- Glamour. "Post-Weinstein, these are the Powerful Men Facing Sexual Harassment Allegations." *Glamour*, May 18, 2019. <u>https://www.glamour.com/gallery/post-weinstein-these-are-the-powerful-men-facing-sexual-harassment-allegations</u>.
- Goldberg, Emma. "'I Can't Focus on Abortion Access if My People are Dying'." *The New York Times*, Jun 30, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/30/us/politics/abortion-supreme-court-gen-z.html</u>.
- Goodman, Elyssa. "How the Lavender Menace Fought for Lesbian Liberation in the 1970s." *Them. Us* (June 19, 2019).
- Goodmark, Leigh. Decriminalizing Domestic Violence: A Balanced Policy Approach to Intimate Partner Violence. Vol. 7 Univ of California Press, 2018.
- Gordon, Claire. "When America Started Caring about Rape." *Al Jazeera*, Mar 20, 2015. <u>http://america.aljazeera.com/watch/shows/america-tonight/articles/2015/3/20/susan-brownmiller-rape.html</u>.
- Gordon, Jane Anna. "On the Indispensability of Consent to Politics: A Qualified Defense." *Differences* 24, no. 1 (2013): 30-54. doi:10.1215/10407391-2140582. http://dx.doi.org/10.1215/10407391-2140582.
- Gornick, Janet C. and David S. Meyer. "Changing Political Opportunity: The Anti-Rape Movement and Public Policy." *Journal of Policy History* 10, no. 4 (Oct, 1998): 367-398. doi:10.1017/S0898030600007132. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0898030600007132</u>.
- Gottschalk, Marie. *The Prison and the Gallows: The Politics of Mass Incarceration in America*. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2006.
- Grady, Constance. "The Waves of Feminism, and Why People Keep Fighting Over them, Explained." Vox Media. (July 20, 2018).
- Graves, Kristina Marie. Stop Taking our Privileges! the Anti-ERA Movement in Georgia 197 2006.
- Gray, Eliza. "The Sexual Assault Crisis on American College Campuses." *Time Magazine* (May 15, 2014).
- Gray-Reneberg, Jeri, Steve Beal, and M. Jane Ford. "The Battered Women's Movement: A Brief Overview." In *Domestic Violence: A Public Health Education and Resource Guide*, 73: Lincoln-Lancaster County Health Department, 1996.
- Gruber, Aya. "Anti-Rape Culture." *University of Kansas Law Review* 64, no. 4 (Jun 01, 2016): 1027. doi:10.17161/1808.25540.
- Gruber, Aya. The Feminist War on Crime: The Unexpected Role of Women's Liberation in Mass Incarceration. Univ of California Press, 2020.
- Gurnham, David. "A Critique of Carceral Feminist Arguments on Rape Myths and Sexual Scripts." *New Criminal Law Review* 19, no. 2 (May 1, 2016): 141-170. doi:10.1525/nclr.2016.19.2.141. <u>https://explore.openaire.eu/search/publication?articleId=od</u> 348::44e31ccbe28b2fa03d03b4f15a1f7d90.

Ha, Raymond. "Chanel Miller and Her Desire to Control the Narrative." (2019).

- Hall, Peter A. and Michèle Lamont. "Why Social Relations Matter for Politics and Successful Societies." *Annual Review of Political Science* 16, no. 1 (2013): 49-71. doi:10.1146/annurev-polisci-031710-101143. <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1146/annurev-polisci-031710-101143</u>.
- Hamlin, Kimberly A. "Are Women People? the Equal Rights Amendment then and Now." *Origins* 10, no. 10 (July, 2017). <u>https://origins.osu.edu/article/are-women-people-equal-rights-amendment-then-and-now.</u>
- Hanley Duncan, Susan. "The Devil Is in the Details: Will the Campus SaVE Act Provide More Or less Protection to Victims of Campus Assaults," Journal of College and University Law 40, no. 3 (2014): 443-466.
- Harrington, Carol. "Review: The Politicization of Sexual Violence, from Abolition to Peacekeeping." *Review* (1979).
- Harris, Kate Lockwood and Ohio Library and Information Network. *Beyond the Rapist: Title IX and Sexual Violence on US Campuses*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2019.
- Hartmann, Margaret. "Everything we Know about the UVA Rape Case [Updated]." (JULY 30, 2015).
- Haskell, Lori and Melanie Randall. *The Impact of Trauma on Adult Sexual Assault Victims* Canada. Department of Justice, 2019. <u>https://deslibris.ca/ID/10103348</u>.
- Hattam, Victoria. "History, Agency, and Political Change." *Polity* 32, no. 3 (Apr 01, 2000): 333-338. doi:10.2307/3235354. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/3235354</u>.
- Hayes, Chris. REVISITED: Abolishing Prisons with Mariame Kaba MSNBC, 2020.
- Heiner, Brady T. and Sarah K. Tyson. "Feminism and the Carceral State: Gender-Responsive Justice, Community Accountability, and the Epistemology of Antiviolence." *Feminist Philosophy Quarterly* 3, no. 1 (Mar 23, 2017a). doi:10.5206/fpq/2016.3.3. <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.5206/fpq/2016.3.3</u>.
- Heldman, Caroline and Baillee Brown. "The Second Wave of Backlash Against Anti-Rape Activism." (Aug 19, 2014).
- Hines, Sally. "The Feminist Frontier: On Trans and Feminism." *Journal of Gender Studies* 28, no. 2 (2019): 145-157.
- Hirschel, David. Domestic Violence Cases: What Research shows about Arrest and Dual Arrest Rates 2008.
- hooks, bell. Feminist Theory: From Margin to Center. 3rd ed. New York, NY: Routledge, 2015.
- Howard University School of Law. "The Womanist Movement." . Accessed 12/15/, 2020. <u>https://library.law.howard.edu/civilrightshistory/womanist</u>.
- INCITE!. "Analysis." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021.

- INCITE!. "Principles of Unity." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://incite-national.org/principles-of-unity/</u>.
- Iyengar, Shanto, Yphtach Lelkes, Matthew Levendusky, Neil Malhotra, and Sean J. Westwood. "The Origins and Consequences of Affective Polarization in the United States." *Annual Review of Political Science* 22, no. 1 (May 11, 2019): 129-146. doi:10.1146/annurev-polisci-051117-073034. <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1146/annurev-polisci-051117-073034</u>.
- Janken, Kenneth R. "The Civil Rights Movement: 1919-1960s." National Humanities Center. Accessed 12/16/, 2020. http://nationalhumanitiescenter.org/tserve/freedom/1917bevond/essays/crm.htm.
- Jarrett, Valerie. "A Renewed Call to Action to End Rape and Sexual Assault." . Accessed 2/21/, 2021. <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2014/01/22/renewed-call-action-end-rape-and-sexual-assault</u>.
- Jay, Karla. "Book Review: Tales of the Lavender Menace: A Memoir of Liberation. by Karla Jay. New York: Basic Books. 1999, 304 Pages, ISBN: 0465083641." *International Journal of Sexuality and Gender Studies* 5, no. 3 (2000): 283-287.
- Jessup-Anger, Jody, Elise Lopez, and Mary Koss. *History of Sexual Violence in Higher Education* Marquette University, 2018.
- Joseph, Tess. "Just Punishment?: The Epistemic and Affective Investments in Carceral Feminism."Oberlin College Honors Theses, 2019. <u>http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=oberlin1557138806825814</u>.
- Kaba, Mariame. "Yes, we Mean Literally Abolish the Police." Jun 12, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/12/opinion/sunday/floyd-abolish-defund-police.html</u>.
- Kalin, Michael and Nicholas Sambanis. "How to Think about Social Identity." *Annual Review of Political Science* 21, no. 1 (May 11, 2018): 239-257. doi:10.1146/annurev-polisci-042016-024408. <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1146/annurev-polisci-042016-024408</u>.
- Kamenetz, Anya. "The History of Campus Sexual Assault." (November 30, 2014). <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/ed/2014/11/30/366348383/the-history-of-campus-sexual-assault.</u>
- Kathleen J. Tierney. "The Battered Women Movement and the Creation of the Wife Beating Problem." *Social Problems (Berkeley, Calif.)* 29, no. 3 (Feb 01, 1982): 207-220. doi:10.1525/sp.1982.29.3.03a00010. https://www.jstor.org/stable/800155.
- Katirai, Negar. "Retraumatized in Court." Arizona Law Review 62, no. 81 (2020).
- Keating, Cricket. "Building Coalitional Consciousness." *NWSA Journal* 17, no. 2 (Jul, 2005): 86-103. doi:10.2979/NWS.2005.17.2.86.

- Khan, Shamus, Joss Greene, Claude Ann Mellins, and Jennifer S. Hirsch. "The Social Organization of Sexual Assault." *Annual Review of Criminology* 3, no. 1 (Jan 13, 2020): 139-163. doi:10.1146/annurev-criminol-011518-024456.
- Kim, Mimi E. "Anti-Carceral Feminism: The Contradictions of Progress and the Possibilities of Counter-Hegemonic Struggle." *Affilia* 35, no. 3 (Dec 11, 2019). <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1177/0886109919878276</u>.
- Kim, Mimi E. "The Carceral Creep: Gender-Based Violence, Race, and the Expansion of the Punitive State, 1973–1983." *Social Problems* 67, no. 2 (2020): 251-269.
- Kimble, Cameron. "Sexual Assault Remains Dramatically Underreported." *Brennan Center for Justice*, Oct. 4, 2018. <u>https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/sexual-assault-remains-dramatically-underreported</u>.
- Kimmel, Michael. Angry White Men. New York: Nation Books, 2013.
- Kingkade, Tyler. "The Woman Students Call when They've been Raped on Campus." (February 9, 2017).
- Kitchens, Caroline. "It's Time to End 'Rape Culture' Hysteria." *Time Magazine* (March 20, 2014).
- Klinker, Mary Jo. "SolidarityIsForWhiteWomen: Hashtags as a Bridge to Feminist "Pasts"." *Radical Teacher (Cambridge)* 104, no. 104 (Jan 01, 2016): 82-84. doi:10.5195/rt.2016.211. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/1767342681</u>.
- Know Your I.X. "Our Wins." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. https://www.knowyourix.org/our-wins/.
- Know Your I.X. "Why Schools Handle Title IX Reports." . Accessed 11/13/, 2020. https://www.knowyourix.org/college-resources/title-ix/.
- Korkodeilou, Jenny. "Book Review: Decriminalizing Domestic Violence: A Balanced Policy Approach to Intimate Partner Violence." (2020). *Social and Legal Studies* 29, no. 3, pp. 451-455.
- Koss, Mary P. and Elise C. Lopez. "VAWA After the Party: Implementing Proposed Guidelines on Campus Sexual Assault Resolution."HeinOnline, 2014.
- Krebs, Lindquist, and Barrick. *The Historically Black College and University Campus Sexual Assault (HBCU-CSA) Study.*
- Kurtz, Stanley. "Culture and Values in the 1960s." In *Never a Matter of Indifference: Sustaining Virtue in a Free Republic*, 29-55. Stanford, CA: Hoover Institution Press, 2003.
- Laurel Weldon, Summer Forester, Kaitlin Kelly-Thompson, and Amber Lusvardi. *Handmaidens* Or Heroes? Feminist Mobilization as a Force for Economic Justice.
- Law, Victoria. "Against Carceral Feminism." Jacobin Magazine (10.17., 2014).
- Lean In. Working Relationships in the #MeToo Era, 2019.
- Lear, Martha Weinman. "The Second Feminist Wave." New York Times, Mar 10, 1968.

- Letourneau, Elizabeth J. and Jill S. Levenson. *Evaluating the Effectiveness of Sex Offender Registration and Notification Policies for Reducing Sexual Violence Against Women*. Charleston, S.C.: MUSC, Medical University of South Carolina, 2010.
- Levine, Judith, and Erica R. Meiners. *The feminist and the sex offender: Confronting sexual harm, ending state violence*. Verso Books, 2020.
- Library of Congress. "The Daughters of Bilitis." . Accessed 12/15/, 2020. <u>https://guides.loc.gov/lgbtq-studies/before-stonewall/daughters-of-bilitis</u>.
- Lippy, Carrie, Selima N. Jumarali, Nkiru A. Nnawulezi, Emma Peyton Williams, and Connie Burk. "The Impact of Mandatory Reporting Laws on Survivors of Intimate Partner Violence: Intersectionality, Help-Seeking and the Need for Change." *Journal of Family Violence* 35, no. 3 (Apr 01, 2020): 255-267. doi:10.1007/s10896-019-00103w. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/2383067848</u>.
- MacKinnon, Catharine A. "MeToo has done what the Law could Not." In *Gender Violence, 3rd Edition*, 174-176. New York, USA: New York University Press, 2020. doi:10.18574/9781479801794-021. <u>http://www.degruyter.com/doi/10.18574/9781479801794-021</u>.
- MacKinnon, Catharine A. "Feminism, Marxism, Method, and the State: An Agenda for Theory." *Signs* 7, no. 3 (1982): 515-544. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/3173853</u>.
- MacKinnon, Catharine A. Toward a Feminist Theory of the State. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1989a.
- MacKinnon, Catharine A. *Women's Lives, Men's Laws*. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 2005.
- MacKinnon. Catharine A. *Butterfly Politics: Changing the World for Women*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 2019.
- Mann, Susan Archer and Douglas J. Huffman. "The Decentering of Second Wave Feminism and the Rise of the Third Wave." *Science & Society* 69, no. 1: Special issue (2005): 56-91.
- Matthews, Nancy A. Confronting Rape: The Feminist Anti-Rape Movement and the State Routledge, 2005.
- Maynard, Kimberly. "Break Up of Conservative Political Group Eagle Forum does Not Mean Trademark Infringement for Founder's New American Eagle Group." . <u>https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=375eaa29-366d-46f7-a54b-c0f3a51b0a7c</u>.
- Mc' Duff, Robin, Pernell, Deanne, and Saunders, Karen. "Letter to the Anti-Rape Movement." *Off our Backs* 7, no. 5 (1977).
- McMahon, Sheila M. "History of the Anti-Rape Movement." In *Handbook of Sexual Assault and Sexual Assault Prevention*, 47-53. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-23645-8 3. <u>http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-23645-8 3</u>.
- Meiners, Erica, and Charity Tolliver. "Refusing to be complicit in our prison nation: Teachers rethinking mandated reporting." *Radical Teacher* 106 (2016).

Melnick, R. "The Strange Evolution of Title IX." Summer 2018 (2018).

- Mendes, Kaitlynn. "Reporting the Women's Movement: News Coverage of Second-Wave Feminism in UK and US Newspapers, 1968–1982." *Feminist Media Studies* 11, no. 4 (2011): 483-498.
- Menshawy, Mustafa and Deva R. Woodly. Book Review: The Politics of Common Sense: How Social Movements use Public Discourse to Change Politics and Win Acceptance. Vol. 167. Dordrecht: Springer, 2016. doi:10.1007/s11127-016-0343-6. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1801826697.
- Merkley, Wendy. "What is the Rape Kit Backlog." . Accessed 11/08/, 2020. <u>http://www.endthebacklog.org/backlog/what-rape-kit-backlog</u>.
- Mingus, Mia. "The Four Parts of Accountability: How to Give a Genuine Apology Part 1." . Accessed 2/21/, 2021. <u>https://leavingevidence.wordpress.com/2019/12/18/how-to-give-a-good-apology-part-1-the-four-parts-of-accountability/</u>.
- Mogul, Joey L., Andrea J. Ritchie, and Kay Whitlock. *Queer (in) Justice: The Criminalization of LGBT People in the United States.* Vol. 5 Beacon Press, 2011.
- Murphy, Heather. "What Experts Know about Men Who Rape." *New York Times*, Oct. 30, 2017. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/10/30/health/men-rape-sexual-assault.html</u>.
- Musto, Jennifer. "Transing Critical Criminology: A Critical Unsettling and Transformative Anti-Carceral Feminist Reframing." *Critical Criminology (Richmond, B.C.)* 27, no. 1 (Mar 15, 2019): 37-54. doi:10.1007/s10612-019-09434y. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/2207654403</u>.
- Myers, JoAnne. *Historical Dictionary of the Lesbian and Gay Liberation Movements* Scarecrow Press, 2013.
- NAACP. "Criminal Justice Factsheet." (. https://www.naacp.org/criminal-justice-fact-sheet/.
- Napikoski, Linda. "Understanding the Backlash Against Feminism." Thought Co., Nov 24, 2019.
- Napikoski, Linda. "Phyllis Schalfly's STOP ERA Campaign Against Women's Equality." *ThoughtCo.*, March 12, 2019a. <u>https://www.thoughtco.com/stop-equal-rights-amendment-3528861</u>.
- National Sexual Violence Resource Center. False Reporting Overview. New York, NY, 2012.
- Nemy, Enid. "Women Begin to Speak Out Against Sexual Harassment at Work." *New York Times*, Aug 19, 1975. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/1975/08/19/archives/women-begin-to-speak-out-against-sexual-harassment-at-work.html</u>.
- Newlove, Peter M. and Shoshanna Bitz. "White Rage: The Unspoken Truth of Racial Divide." *Multicultural Perspectives* 20, no. 2 (2018): 122-126.
- North, Anna. "7 Positive Changes that have Come from the #MeToo Movement." *Vox,* Oct. 4, 2019. <u>https://www.vox.com/identities/2019/10/4/20852639/me-too-movement-sexual-harassment-law-2019</u>.

- North, Anna, Constance Grady, Laura McGann, and Aja Romano. "262 Celebrities, Politicians, CEOs, and Others Who have been Accused of Sexual Misconduct since April 2017." *Vox,* Jan. 9, 2019. <u>https://www.vox.com/a/sexual-harassment-assault-allegations-list/amit-singhal</u>.
- Noveck, Jocelyn. "In Sex Assault Laws, Definition of Consent Varies Widely." *Associated Press*, December 16, 2017.
- O'Regan, Karla M. Law and Consent. 1st ed. Milton: Routledge, 2020.
- O'Donnell, Michael. *They Fought the Law*. Vol. 288. New York: The Nation Company L.P, 2009.
- Ohlheisier, Abby. "Study Finds 'Epidemic' of Sexual Assault among First Year Women on One College Campus ." *The Washington Post*, . <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/gradepoint/wp/2015/05/20/study-finds-epidemic-of-sexual-assault-among-first-year-women-atone-u-s-college/</u>.
- Orloff, Ann Shola and Talia Shiff. "Feminism/s in Power: Rethinking Gender Equality After the Second Wave." In *Perverse Politics? Feminism, Anti-Imperialism, Multiplicity*: Emerald Group Publishing Limited, 2016.
- Padnani, Amisha. "Leslie Wolfe, Who Pursued Equality for Women, Dies at 74." *The New York Times*, Dec 8, 2017. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/08/obituaries/leslie-wolfe-who-pursued-equality-for-women-dies-at-74.html?searchResultPosition=2</u>.
- Pateman, Carole. "Women and Consent." (Jun 10, 2016): 370-374. doi:10.5771/9783845250939-370. <u>http://www.nomos-elibrary.de/index.php?doi=10.5771/9783845250939-370</u>.
- Pelsinger, Camila. "Beyond #MeToo: Transformative Justice on College Campuses." *The Indy* (Sept 21, 2019).
- PÉREZ, MIRIAM ZOILA. "Seven Important Facts about the Violence Against Women Act at 20." *Colorlines* (SEP 12, 2014).
- Philip Rocco. *Book Reviews* | *American Politics: the Transformation of Title IX: Regulating Gender Equality in Education by R. Shep Melnick*. Vol. 16. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2018.
- Philipose, Pamela and Mukul Kesavan. "The #MeToo Movement." *Indian Journal of Gender Studies* 26, no. 1-2 (Feb, 2019): 207-214. doi:10.1177/0971521518812288. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0971521518812288</u>.
- Phillips, Nickie D. and Nicholas Chagnon. ""Six Months is a Joke": Carceral Feminism and Penal Populism in the Wake of the Stanford Sexual Assault Case." *Feminist Criminology* 15, no. 1 (2020): 47-69.
- Philly Survivor Support Collective. "About." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://phillysurvivorsupportcollective.wordpress.com/about/</u>.
- Philly Survivor Support Collective. "Strategies for Survivors.". Accessed 2/24/2021.

Phipps, Alison, Jessica Ringrose, Emma Renold, and Carolyn Jackson. "Rape Culture, Lad Culture and Everyday Sexism: Researching, Conceptualizing and Politicizing New Mediations of Gender and Sexual Violence." *Journal of Gender Studies* 27, no. 1 (2017): 1-8.

doi:10.1080/09589236.2016.1266792. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1080/09589236. 2016.1266792.

- Pickens, Josie. "Love no Limit: We should Think about Prison Abolition as a Love Story." (.
- Pineau, Lois. "Date Rape: A Feminist Analysis." *Law and Philosophy* 8, no. 2 (1989): 217. doi:10.2307/3504696. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.2307/3504696.
- Pomerleau, Clark A. "Empowering Members, Not Overpowering them: The National Organization for Women, Calls for Lesbian Inclusion, and California Influence, 1960s-1980s." *Journal of Homosexuality* 57, no. 7 (2010): 842-61. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20665327/</u>.
- Press, Alex. "#MeToo must Avoid Carceral Feminism." Vox, February 1, 2018.
- RAINN. "Campus Sexual Violence: Statistics." (a). <u>https://www.rainn.org/statistics/campus-sexual-violence</u>.
- RAINN. "Legal Role of Consent." . https://www.rainn.org/articles/legal-role-consent.
- RAINN. "The Criminal Justice System: Statistics." . Accessed 11/08/, 2020. <u>https://www.rainn.org/statistics/criminal-justice-system</u>.
- RAINN. "Victims of Sexual Violence: Statistics." . Accessed 3/26/, 2021. <u>https://www.rainn.org/statistics/victims-sexual-violence</u>.
- Rampton, Martha. "Four Waves of Feminism." *The Oregonian (Portland, Or. 1937),* Apr 1, 1999. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/418801320</u>.
- Ray, C. *MacKinnon, Catharine A.: Butterfly Politics.(Book Review).* Vol. 55 American Library Association CHOICE, 2017.
- 116th Congress. H.R. 1585 Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2019. 2019-2020 sess. (Mar 7, 2019).
- Resist. "Grants: Resist Believes in Grassroots Organizing, Creativity, and Power." . Accessed 3/23/, 2021. <u>https://wpmigration.resist.org/grants/</u>.
- Rich, Marc D., Ebony A. Utley, Kelly Janke, and Minodora Moldoveanu. ""I'd Rather Be Doing Something Else:" Male Resistance to Rape Prevention Programs." *The Journal of Men's Studies* 18, no. 3 (2010): 268-288. doi:10.3149/jms.1803.268. https://search.datacite.org/works/10.3149/jms.1803.268.
- Richie, Beth. Arrested Justice: Black Women, Violence, and America's Prison Nation. NYU Press, 2012.
- Ritchie, Andrea J. "Crimes Against Nature: Challenging Criminalization of Queerness and Black Women's Sexuality." *Loy.J.Pub.Int.L.* 14, (2012): 355.

- Ritchie, Andrea J. Invisible no More: Police Violence Against Black Women and Women of Color Beacon press, 2017.
- Ritchie, Andrea J. "Crimes Against Nature: Challenging Criminalization of Queerness and Black Women's Sexuality." *Loy J. Pub Int.* 14, no. 2 (2013).
- Ritchie, Andrea J. "How some Cops use the Badge to Commit Sex Crimes." *The Washington Post,* Jan 12, 2018. <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/how-some-cops-use-the-badge-to-commit-sex-crimes/2018/01/11/5606fb26-eff3-11e7-b390-a36dc3fa2842_story.html</u>.
- Ritchie, Andrea J. and Delores Jones-Brown. "Policing Race, Gender, and Sex: A Review of Law Enforcement Policies." *Women & Criminal Justice* 27, no. 1 (2017): 21-50.
- Ritchie, Andrea J. and Joey L. Mogul. "In the Shadows of the War on Terror: Persistent Police Brutality and Abuse of People of Color in the United States." *DePaul J.Soc.just.* 1, (2007): 175.
- Rubenstein, Jennifer, Suzanne Dovi, Erin R. Pineda, Deva Woodly, Alexander S. Kirshner, Loubna El Amine, and Russell Muirhead. "Political and Ethical Action in the Age of Trump." *Contemporary Political Theory* 17, no. 3 (Aug, 2018): 331-362. doi:10.1057/s41296-018-0225-4. <u>https://search.proquest.com/docview/2067475701</u>.
- Russo, Ann. "Between Speech and Silence: Reflections on Accountability." In *Silence, Feminism, Power*, 34-49: Springer, 2013.
- Russo, Ann. Feminist Accountability: Disrupting Violence and Transforming Power. NYU Press, 2018.
- Sacco, Lisa N. Violence Against Women Act (VAWA): Historical Overview, Funding, and Reauthorization. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications, 2009.
- Schlesinger Library on the History of Women in America. "#MeToo Digita Media Collection." . Accessed September 25, 2020. <u>https://www.schlesinger-metooproject-radcliffe.org</u>.
- Schulhofer, Stephen J. Unwanted Sex: The Culture of Intimidation and the Failure of Law. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press, 1998.
- Schulhofer, Stephen and Erin Murphy. "Delineating "Yes": Stephen Schulhofer and Erin Murphy are Revising the Model Penal Code on Sexual Assault." *NYU Law News*, May 26, 2015. <u>https://www.law.nyu.edu/news/ideas/ALI-penal-code-sexual-assault</u>.
- "Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA)." . Accessed 11/13/, 2020. https://www.justice.gov/criminal-ceos/sex-offender-registration-and-notification-act-sorna.
- Shapiro, Emily. "Two College Sex Assaults: Why the Vanderbilt Case Carries a Harsher Sentence than Stanford'S." *ABC News*, June 20, 2016. <u>https://abcnews.go.com/US/college-</u> <u>sex-assaults-vanderbilt-case-carries-harsher-sentence/story?id=39987984</u>.

- Sharp, Elizabeth A., Dana A. Weiser, Don E. Lavigne, and R. Corby Kelly. "From Furious to Fearless: Faculty Action and Feminist Praxis in Response to Rape Culture on College Campuses." *Family Relations* 66, no. 1 (Feb, 2017): 75-88.
- Small, Tamara A. "The Promises and Perils of Hashtag Feminism." *Turbulent Times, Transformational Possibilities?: Gender and Politics Today and Tomorrow* (2020): 177. <u>https://books.google.com/books?id=pDjlDwAAQBAJ&lpg=PA177&ots=aA2-LD90xz&dq=2nd%20wave%20feminism%20AND%20rac*&lr&pg=PA179#v=onepage&q&&f=false.</u>
- Smith, Patricia. A Review of Stephen J. Schulhofer's Unwanted Sex: The Culture of Intimidation and the Failure of Law. Vol. 19 Wiley Subscription Services, Inc, 2004.
- Smith, Tovia. A Year Later, Americans are Deeply Divided Over the #MeToo Movement. Washington, D.C: National Public Radio, Inc. (NPR), 2018.
- Spade, Dean. "Intersectional Resistance and Law Reform." *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society* 38, no. 4 (2013): 1031-1055.
- Spade, Dean. Mutual Aid: Building Solidarity during this Crisis (and the Next) Verso Books, 2020.
- Spade, Dean, Mariame Kaba, and Ejeris Dixon. "We Keep each Other Safe: Mutual Aid for Survival and Solidarity." *Barnard Center for Research on Women* (Nov 12, 2020). <u>https://bcrw.barnard.edu/event/we-keep-each-other-safe/</u>.
- Speri, Alice. "The Criminal Justice System is Not Broken. It's Doing what it was Designed to do." (. https://theintercept.com/2019/11/09/criminal-justice-mass-incarceration-book/.
- Steiner, Jennifer P. "Going Beyond Compliance to Dismantling Rape Culture: A Feminist Phenomenological Study of Title IX Administrators." Ph.D., University of Minnesota, 2019. <u>http://ezproxy.oberlin.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertationstheses/going-beyond-compliance-dismantling-rape-culture/docview/2280697510/se-2?accountid=12933.</u>
- Steinhauer, Jennifer and David S. Joachim. "55 Colleges Named in Federal Inquiry into Handling of Sexual Assault Cases." *The New York Times* (May 1, 2014). <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2014/05/02/us/politics/us-lists-colleges-under-inquiryover-sex-assault-cases.html</u>.
- Straus, Murray A. and Richard J. Gelles. Societal Change and Change in Family Violence from 1975 to 1985 as Revealed by Two National Surveys. Vol. 48 1986.
- Strebeigh, Fred. Equal: Women Reshape American Law. WW Norton & Company, 2009.
- Suggestions from Judges for Judges. Promoting Fairness by Minimizing Victim Trauma during a Sexual Assault Trial.
- Survived & Punished. "2020 Annual Review." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://survivedandpunished.org/2021/01/19/sp-2020-annual-review/</u>.

Survived & Punished. "S&P Analysis & Vision." . Accessed 2/24/, 2021. <u>https://survivedandpunished.org/analysis/</u>.

- Szekeres, Hanna, Eric Shuman, and Tamar Saguy. "Views of Sexual Assault Following #MeToo: The Role of Gender and Individual Differences." *Personality and Individual Differences* 166, (2020): 110203. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.110203</u>. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/articl</u> <u>e/pii/S0191886920303925</u>.
- Taylor, Verta. "Gender and Social Movements: Gender Processes in Women's Self-Help Movements." *Gender & Society* 13, no. 1 (Feb, 1999): 8-33.
- Terwiel, Anna. "What is Carceral Feminism?" *Political Theory* 48, no. 4 (Nov 26, 2019): 009059171988994-442. doi:10.1177/0090591719889946. <u>https://search.datacite.org/works/10.1177/0090591719889946</u>.
- Tester, Griff. "An Intersectional Analysis of Sexual Harassment in Housing." *Gender & Society* 22, no. 3 (2008): 349-366.
- The Audre Lorde Project. "Annual Report." . Accessed 3/23/, 2021. https://alp.org/annualreport.
- The Audre Lorde Project. "Financial Literacy Workshop." . Accessed 3/23/, 2021. <u>https://alp.org/events/financial-literacy-workshop</u>.
- The White House. "Memorandum -- Establishing a White House Task Force to Protect Students from Sexual Assault." . <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2014/01/22/memorandum-establishing-white-house-task-force-protect-students-sexual-a</u>.
- Thomas, Gillian (Lawyer). Because of Sex: One Law, Ten Cases, and Fifty Years that Changed American Women's Lives at Work. First ed. New York: St. Martin's Press, 2016.
- Thulin, Lila. "The 97-Year-History of the Equal Rights Amendment." *Smithsonian Magazine*, Nov 13, 2019. <u>https://www.smithsonianmag.com/history/equal-rights-</u> <u>amendment-96-years-old-and-still-not-part-constitution-heres-why-180973548/</u>.
- Thuma, Emily L. All our Trials: Prisons, Policing, and the Feminist Fight to End Violence University of Illinois Press, 2019.
- Ticknor, Bobbie and Jessica J. Warner. "Evaluating the Accuracy of SORNA: Testing for Classification Errors and Racial Bias." *Criminal Justice Policy Review* 31, no. 1 (2020): 3-21. doi:10.1177/0887403418786548. https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403418786548.
- Tierney, Kathleen J. "The Battered Women Movement and the Creation of the Wife Beating Problem." *Social Problems* 29, no. 3 (1982): 207-220. doi:10.2307/800155. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/800155</u>.
- Tippett, Elizabeth C. "The Legal Implications of the #MeToo Movement." *Minnesota Law Review* 103, no. 1 (2018): 229-302.
- U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, Title Ix Resource Guide. April 2015.

Ujima. "What we Do." Accessed 2/24/, 2021. https://ujimacommunity.org/what-we-do/.

United States Courts. The 14th Amendment and the Evolution of Title IX.

United States Department of Justice. Equal Access to Education: 40 Years of Title IX, 2012.

Waldman, Annie. "De Vos Pick to Head Civil Rights Office Once Said She Faced Discrimination for being White." (. <u>https://www.propublica.org/article/devos-candice-jackson-civil-rights-office-education-department</u>.

Waylen, Georgina, Karen Celis, Johanna Kantola, and S. Laurel Weldon. Civil Society 2013a.

- ——. "Gender and Politics: Concepts and Methods." *The Oxford Handbook of Gender and Politics* (March, 2013b).
- ——. "The State, Governance, and Policy Making." *The Oxford Handbook of Gender and Politics* (March, 2013c).
- Weldon, S. Laurel. "Women's Movements, Identity Politics, and Policy Impacts: A Study of Policies on Violence Against Women in the 50 United States." *Political Research Quarterly* 59, no. 1 (Mar 1, 2006): 111-122. doi:10.1177/106591290605900110. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4148079.
- Weldon, S. Laurel, Kelly-Thompson, Kaitlin, Lusvardi, Amber and Forester, Summer. *When and how does Transnational Feminist Promote Gender Justice? New Measures and Exploratory Findings*.
- West, Robin. "9 Sex, Law, and Consent." In *The Ethics of Consent*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2009. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195335149.003.0009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/97801</u> 95335149.003.0009.
- Whittier, Nancy. "Carceral and Intersectional Feminism in Congress: The Violence Against Women Act, Discourse, and Policy." *Gender & Society* 30, no. 5 (2016): 791-818.
- Wilburn, Karissa. "Understanding Important Dates of the Dissemination and Prevention of Rape Culture on Campuses." (. <u>https://blogs.uoregon.edu/karissaww14gateway/timeline/</u>.
- Williams, Juliet A. Butterfly Politics. by Catharine A. MacKinnon. Cambridge MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, 2017. 504 Pp. \$29.95 (Hardcover). Vol. 15. New York, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2019.

WOCN, Inc. "About Us." Accessed 2/24/, 2021. https://wocninc.org/about/.

- Wolfe, Molly. "THis Day in History: National Organization for Women was Founded." . Accessed 2/2/, 2021. <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2015/06/30/day-history-national-organization-women-was-founded#:~:text=This</u> Day in History%3A National Organization for Women was Founded,-June 30%2C 2015&text=Summary%3A,of the women's rights movement.
- Woodly, Deva R. The Politics of Common Sense: How Social Movements use Public Discourse to Change Politics and Win Acceptance. New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015.

Yoffe, Emily. "College Women: Stop Getting Drunk." Slate (Oct 15, 2013).

- Young, Cathy. "Rethinking Campus Rape Policy." *New York Times (1923-Current File)*,2017. <u>http://ezproxy.oberlin.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/historical-newspapers/rethinking-campus-rape-policy/docview/2463561543/se-2?accountid=12933</u>.
- Zacharek, Stephanie, Eliana Dockterman, and Haley Sweetland Edwards. "The Silence Breakers." *Time Person of the Year 2017* (2017).
- Zeisler, Andy. "Dishonor Roll: Everything New is Scold Again." (https://www.bitchmedia.org/article/dishonor-roll/everything-scold-new-again.
- Zgoba, Kristen M., Michael Miner, Jill Levenson, Raymond Knight, Elizabeth Letourneau, and David Thornton. "The Adam Walsh Act." *Sexual Abuse* 28, no. 8 (Dec, 2016): 722-740. doi:10.1177/1079063215569543. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1079063215569543</u>.
- Zimmerman, Eilene. "Campus Sexual Assault: A Timeline of Major Events." *The New York Times*, June 22, 2016a. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/06/23/education/campus-sexual-</u> assault-a-timeline-of-major-events.html.

——. "Campuses Struggle with Approaches for Preventing Sexual Assault." *The New York Times* (June 22, 2016b). <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/06/23/education/campuses-struggle-with-approaches-for-preventing-sexual-assault.html</u>.

Zinn, Howard. A People's History of the United States: 1492-Present Routledge, 2015.

 Zurbriggen, Eileen L. Review: Nicola Gavey: Just Sex? the Cultural Scaffolding of Rape. London and New York: Routledge, 2005, 268 Pp. £16.95, 9780415310727 (Pbk), £45.00, ISBN 9780415310710 (Hbk). Vol. 18. London, England: SAGE Publications, 2008. doi:10.1177/09593535080180031806. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/09593535080180031806</u>.